## California State University, Monterey Bay Digital Commons @ CSUMB

Capstone Projects and Master's Theses

Fall 2023

# Assessing the Effects of Upwelling-Driven pH and Dissolved Oxygen Variability on Juvenile Rockfishes

Melissa Palmisciano California State University, Monterey Bay

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.csumb.edu/caps\_thes\_all

#### **Recommended Citation**

Palmisciano, Melissa, "Assessing the Effects of Upwelling-Driven pH and Dissolved Oxygen Variability on Juvenile Rockfishes" (2023). *Capstone Projects and Master's Theses*. 1626. https://digitalcommons.csumb.edu/caps\_thes\_all/1626

This Master's Thesis (Open Access) is brought to you for free and open access by Digital Commons @ CSUMB. It has been accepted for inclusion in Capstone Projects and Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ CSUMB. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@csumb.edu.

# ASSESSING THE EFFECTS OF UPWELLING-DRIVEN PH AND DISSOLVED OXYGEN VARIABILTY ON JUVENILE ROCKFISHES

A Thesis

Presented to the

Faculty of

Moss Landing Marine Laboratories

California State University Monterey Bay

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Science

in

Marine Science

by

Melissa Palmisciano

Term Completed: Fall 2023

#### CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY MONTEREY BAY

The Undersigned Faculty Committee Approves the

Thesis of Melissa Palmi ciano:

ASSESSING THE EFFECTS OF UPWELLING-DRIVEN PH AND DISSOLVED OXYGEN VARIABILITY ON JUVENILE ROCKFISHES

taml

Scott Hamilton, Chair

Moss Landing Marine Laboratories

Brighte McDonald

Gitte McDonald

Moss Landing Marine Laboratories

ly/Fey

Cheryl Logan

California State University Monterey Bay

~ n.A,\_\_\_\_

Susan Sogard

NOAA Southwest Fisheries Science Center (retired)

PC 13, 2023 17:09 PST) Cindy Junt

Cindy Juntunen

Associate Provost for Research and Dean of Graduate Studies

Approval Date

Copyright © 2023

by

Melissa Palmisciano

All Rights Reserved

#### Assessing the Effects of Upwelling-Driven pH and Dissolved Oxygen Variability on Juvenile Rockfishes by Melissa Palmisciano Masters of Science in Marine Science California State University Monterey Bay, 2023

#### Abstract

Global climate change is expected to increase the frequency and severity of upwelling events in the California Current Ecosystem, yielding concurrent reductions in pH and dissolved oxygen (DO) in coastal marine environments. Juvenile copper (Sebastes caurinus) and gopher (Sebastes carnatus) rockfish may be particularly vulnerable to low pH and DO because they settle nearshore during the upwelling season. Previous studies often use static (i.e., fixed) pH and DO treatments in the laboratory, but ocean chemistry is dynamic and these conditions fluctuate naturally in upwelling zones. To determine how fluctuations in ocean chemistry will impact rockfish behavioral and physiological performance at this critical life history stage, I exposed juveniles of both species to one of the following pH/DO treatments: static control (8.0 pH, 8.3 mg/L DO), static moderate (7.5 pH, 4.0 mg/L DO), static extreme (7.3 pH, 2.0 mg/L DO), and two fluctuating treatments, upwelling and relaxation (recurring cycles of 8 days of 7.3 pH, 2.0 mg/L DO and 8 days of recovery at control conditions). Responses to sublethal stress were evaluated after 1-13 weeks of exposure (or up to six 16-day fluctuating cycles) through behavioral and physiological metrics including lateralization tests, escape time trials, startle response, critical swimming speed (U<sub>crit</sub>), metabolic performance (standard and maximum metabolic rates, capacity for aerobic activity), hypoxia tolerance (critical oxygen tension [Pcrit]), growth rates, body condition, and mortality. I did not observe any significant effects of upwelling conditions on the behavioral metrics of lateralization, escape time, or startle response. Rockfish exhibited impairment in aerobic scope (due to a reduced maximum metabolic rate), swimming speed, and increased ventilation rates and hypoxia tolerance, under simulated upwelling conditions, performing equally to fish in the extreme treatment. In the fluctuating upwelling treatment, both species appeared to recover fully for most physiological metrics when returned to control seawater for 6-7 days (i.e., a simulated oceanographic relaxation event). Both species exhibited the lowest growth rate in the extreme low pH/DO treatment and intermediate growth in the two fluctuating treatments, suggesting lasting cumulative negative impacts of exposure to future upwelling conditions. Mortality was highest in the extreme low treatment and body condition tended to decrease as treatments became more extreme. While juvenile rockfish are susceptible to physiological impairment under extreme climate change scenarios, the severity and duration of future hypoxic, acidic events will ultimately set the consequences for survivorship and physiological fitness, influencing the outcome of the population replenishment process and the long-term sustainability of economically and ecologically important nearshore rockfish species.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract1
Acknowledgements
I. Introduction9
II. Materials and Methods15
A. Fish Collections and Tagging15
B. Rearing Conditions
C. Behavioral Trials
Escape Challenge18
Behavioral Lateralization18
Startle Response
D. Physiological Trials21
Ventilation Rate21
Critical Swimming Speed (Ucrit)21
Aerobic Scope
Hypoxia Tolerance (P <sub>crit</sub> )23
Growth, Body Condition, and Mortality24
III. Statistical Analysis24
IV. Results25
A. Carbonate Chemistry25
B. Behavior25
Escape Time
Behavioral Lateralization
Startle Response
C. Physiology
Ventilation Rate

Critical Swimming Speed (Ucrit)27
Aerobic Scope
Hypoxia Tolerance (Pcrit)
Growth, Body Condition, and Mortality
V. Discussion
Summary
Behavior
Physiology
Impacts of fluctuations
VI. Conclusion
VII. Tables and Figures40
Tables40
Figures46
VIII. Literature Cited

## **List of Tables**

Table 1. Summary of experiment schedul	e from May 2017-July 2018 40
--	------------------------------

**Table 2.** Summary of mean pH, total alkalinity, and  $pCO_2$  from water samples and from daily spot checks taken using the Hach multimeter, averaged by treatment. Values are listed with  $\pm$  standard error. For the fluctuating treatments, means are also shown when the treatment was on (during upwelling phase when pH and DO fell) and off (relaxation phase where pH and DO returned to control values). N represents the number of samples taken during the experiment... 42

```
      Table 3. ANOVA results for mixed effects models. Statistically significant p-values (<0.05) are</th>

      noted in bold text
      43
```

**Table 4.** Sample size by treatment and species for each experiment. Additional samples (not shown here) were excluded from analyses in cases where video was blurry or unusable (startle, ventilation) or due to poor data quality (ex. equipment failure, fish failed to swim, etc.).

## **List of Figures**

 **Figure 6.** (a) Relative lateralization and (b) absolute lateralization. Large circles/triangles represent modeled means and small circles/triangles show the raw data. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Circles denote time point 1 when fish were in control water and triangles denote time point 2 when fish were in treatment water. For relative lateralization, a positive value indicates a right turn bias and negative value indicates a left-turn bias. There was no significant difference in relative or absolute lateralization among treatments or time points...... 50

**Figure 11.** P<sub>crit</sub>, or hypoxia tolerance for (a) copper and (b) gopher rockfish. A lower P<sub>crit</sub> indicates a greater hypoxia tolerance. Large circles represent modeled means and small circles show data points. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Shaded circles represent static

**Figure 13.** Specific growth rates (% day<sup>-1</sup>) of copper and gopher rockfish at time points during the experiment. Circles represent means for each period and error bars represent standard error.

56	•
20	

## Acknowledgements

This thesis would not have been possible without the support of mentors, friends, and family members who have had shaped my growth as a scientist and as a person. I'd like to thank my advisor, Scott Hamilton, for giving me the opportunity to study climate change impacts on rockfish. His constant encouragement, expertise, and insightful feedback throughout my Master's degree has been instrumental, and I couldn't have asked for a more patient and truly helpful mentor. I'd also like to thank the members of my thesis committee for serving as a supportive network. Thanks to Cheryl Logan for making R approachable, for her knowledge of physiology, and for being an inspiring teacher. Susan Sogard's expertise in rockfish ecology and her hands-on assistance in the laboratory have been indispensable. I'm grateful to committee member Gitte McDonald for introducing me to statistics and for demystifying mixed effects modeling.

I'm eternally thankful for the incredible team of researchers and students at NOAA in Santa Cruz, who stood by my side through countless hours of troubleshooting and late-night fish rescues. A special thanks to Neosha Kashef and Dave Stafford for their technical wizardry and organization in the lab, and for their mentorship. Thank you to Kristin Saksa, Jacoby Baker, and Evan Mattiasen for helping run experiments, for their comradery during long hours, and for being sounding boards for ideas. Thank you to Jake Cline for his help processing water samples for carbonate chemistry. Erik Sturm was instrumental in maintaining the aquarium facilities at NOAA. I'm deeply appreciative of our dedicated interns for their assistance with fish husbandry, video processing, water sampling, and behavioral experiments, including Maxwell Rudelic, Ashley Belknap, Yulia Loshkareva, Steven Eikenbary, Gema Garcia, Samuel Le, Melissa Gutterman, and many more. Thanks to the Ichthyology Lab members for creating such a positive environment for constructive feedback, and to all the Moss Landing divers who assisted with fish collections during the coldest conditions of the year.

Furthermore, I'm grateful for the community at Moss Landing, including Diana Stellar for teaching me to dive, JD and Brian Ackerman for their support with boating, Jocelyn Douglas for ensuring safety in the lab, and the facilities crew for their contributions to projects. I'd also like to thank Robin Elahi at Hopkins for his assistance with statistics and Kroeker Lab at UCSC and Yui Takeshita at MBARI for the use of their equipment for processing carbonate chemistry samples. I would like to acknowledge the funding sources for this project, including the National Science Foundation (Emerging Frontiers: #1416919), the Meyers Oceanographic and Marine Biology Trust, and the CSU Council for Ocean Affairs, Science and Technology (COAST) Graduate Research Award.

I'm so thankful for my parents, Steve and Paula, and my brother Michael, for their love and support, and for believing in me relentlessly throughout this journey. Finally, thank you to my partner, Ben, for being my person and my rock, for being incredibly generous with his time and engineering expertise, for helping me build things and fix them when they break, and for all the adventures.

## I. Introduction

Since pre-industrial times, anthropogenic emissions of fossil fuels have raised atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> from 280 parts per million (ppm) to over 400 ppm, triggering profound changes in the world's climate and oceans (IPCC 2014). The ability of marine organisms to withstand rapidly changing ocean conditions from climate change has important implications for fisheries sustainability and biodiversity. One major challenge in predicting biological responses to climate change is that rising atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> is simultaneously altering multiple environmental variables that affect organismal physiology, including temperature, acidity, oxygenation, salinity, currents, and nutrient availability (Gunderson et al. 2016). These factors may act in concert (additive effect), in opposition (antagonistic effect), or may enhance one another (synergistic effect) to affect the behavior, physiology, and survival of marine organisms (Crain et al. 2008). Marine organisms exposed to multiple environmental stressors may face energetic trade-offs between the stress response and maintenance activities and behaviors (e.g., growth and metabolism, predator avoidance, foraging activity), which may ultimately reduce their fitness (Davis et al. 2018).

Increasingly, scientists are recognizing the importance of simulating future oceanic conditions in the laboratory through multiple stressor experiments (DePasquale et al. 2015; Davis et al. 2018; Donham et al. 2022). Most multi-stressor studies to date have examined organismal responses to stable/static stressor parameters representing mean environmental conditions, even for those organisms living in variable coastal environments (Gunderson et al. 2016). However, organismal performance under mean environmental conditions is generally different from mean performance under variable conditions due to the nonlinearity of performance curves, a mathematical principle that is also known as Jensen's inequality (Jensen 1906; Denny 2017; Kroeker et al. 2019). For example, metabolic rate is an accelerating, concave, nonlinear function of temperature, so predicting metabolic rate under variable temperatures using mean temperature could underestimate actual metabolic rate (Denny 2017). Conversely, for convex performance curves, performance under variable conditions might be lower than performance under variable conditions due to the shape of the curve.

Coastal habitats undergo significant changes over timescales ranging from hours to seasons (Hofmann et al. 2011; Booth et al. 2012; Frieder et al. 2012; Duarte et al. 2013; Waldbusser & Salisbury 2013) and these spikes or temporary reprieves in physical forcing factors may have disproportionate effects on organismal fitness (Gruber et al. 2012; Gunderson et al. 2016; Small et al. 2016; Mangan et al. 2017). Variability in pH and dissolved oxygen may provide a temporal refuge from stress compared to constant exposure. For example, diel pH fluctuations have been shown to minimize the adverse effects of pH on brain lateralization, predator cue response, and growth in coral reef fishes (Jarrold et al. 2017; Jarrold & Munday 2019). Alternatively, repeatedly acclimating to changing conditions might have a higher energetic cost, increasing overall stress and reducing performance. For example, variable pH increased metabolic rates in the mussel *Mytilus edulis* compared to a static treatment (Mangan et al. 2017). Finally, fluctuations might have no effect on organismal responses to changing ocean chemistry. For example, pH fluctuations did not alter social or individual behavioral responses of juvenile blacksmith (*Chromis punctipinnis*) compared to fish raised in static treatments (Kwan et al. 2017).

Habitats found in Eastern Boundary Current Upwelling Systems, such as the California Current Ecosystem, are highly dynamic and shaped by natural environmental variability. In the California Current, the wind-driven process of upwelling periodically transports CO<sub>2</sub>-rich, hypoxic water from depth onto the coastal shelf during the spring. Eastern Boundary Currents have lower pH than other coastal regions due the shoreward advection of deep source waters, which are enriched with CO<sub>2</sub> by the remineralization of organic matter (Gruber et al. 2012). By increasing the land-sea pressure gradient, atmospheric warming over land from climate change is expected to increase the northerly winds that cause upwelling, leading to an increase in the frequency and severity of upwelling events in central and northern CA (Bakun 1990; Wang et al. 2015). Increasingly frequent and more severe upwelling may periodically expose nearshore marine organisms in these regions, such as fishes, to even more extreme acidified, hypoxic conditions (Booth et al. 2012). Intrusion of acidified water with pH below 7.5 and dissolved oxygen (DO) below 3.0 mg/L has been recorded in Stillwater Cove, Carmel (Figure 1) and other areas in the Monterey Bay (Booth et al. 2012). Upwelling in Central California occurs most frequently during the spring and early summer, corresponding with critical settlement stages for ecologically and economically important species, such as nearshore-recruiting rockfishes. Therefore, an emerging concern is that these juveniles, at a vulnerable early life stage, may be particularly impacted by climate change following exposure to upwelling-induced ocean acidification and hypoxia (Cline et al. 2020; Hamilton et al. 2017; Mattiasen et al. 2020).

In addition to the effects of increased advection of hypoxic, acidified water to coastal regions, climate change is causing global changes in baseline pH and oxygenation which are likely to exacerbate the effects on nearshore marine organisms. The world's oceans have absorbed one third of anthropogenic carbon emissions and oceanic pH has fallen from 8.2 to 8.1 since the Industrial Revolution, with up to a 0.3-0.4 drop predicted by 2100 and potentially a 0.7-0.8 unit drop by 2300 (Caldeira & Wickett 2003; Orr et al. 2005; Sabine & Feely 2007; Feely et al. 2008). In Central California, surface waters within 10 km of the coast are expected to fall to a mean pH of  $7.82 \pm 0.05$  by 2050 (Gruber et al. 2012). Additionally, rising atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> is expected to amplify the amplitude of natural monthly oscillations in oceanic CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations by 2100 (McNeil & Sasse 2016).

Concurrently, global oceanic dissolved oxygen is predicted to decline by 1-7% by 2100 (Keeling et al. 2010). Regions of hypoxia and anoxia – or extreme low DO concentrations, below which many organisms cannot survive - develop naturally in the ocean. A review across multiple fish studies found that the average LC50, or lethal hypoxia concentration for 50% of the individuals, is approximately 2.0 mg/L, but this value can vary widely by species (Vaquer-Sunyer & Duarte 2008). However, climate change is causing large-scale reductions of DO, through a process termed ocean deoxygenation, as well as the expansion of naturally occurring persistent hypoxic strata, known as oxygen minimum zones (OMZs; Keeling et al. 2010; Breitburg et al. 2018). Warmer water is less dense and has a decreased capacity for oxygen storage, increasing stratification and reducing downward transport of oxygen to the ocean interior (Keeling et al. 2010; Helm et al. 2011). The effects of diminishing oxygen on marine ecosystems can range from changes in species composition and reduced biodiversity (Rabalais et al. 2002), compression of habitat both latitudinally (Deutsch et al. 2015) and by depth (Prince & Phillip Goodyear 2007), and mortality and total community decimation in the case of anoxia, even for relatively mobile fishes, including rockfish (Grantham et al. 2004). For example, persistent bouts of extreme hypoxia lasting for multiple months have been observed along the Oregon coast, leading to mortality of benthic invertebrates and an absence of fish from rocky reefs at 50 meters depth during submersible surveys (Chan et al. 2008). Oxygen saturation has declined by 20% in the Southern Californian OMZ since 1984, and its boundaries have shoaled by up to 90 meters (Bograd et al. 2008), causing a loss of aerobic habitat in the California current (Howard et al. 2020) and compressing depth ranges of multiple rockfish species (Meyer-Gutbrod et al. 2021).

Because of their ability to regulate internal pH through Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup>/HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> ion channels across the gill epithelium, teleost fish were historically presumed to tolerate high oceanic  $pCO_2$  (Heuer & Grosell 2014). However, recent studies have revealed significant species-specific behavioral and physiological consequences of low pH exposure in fishes, possibly because of compensatory responses to regulate pH (Munday et al. 2009; Hamilton et al. 2017; Heuer & Grosell 2014). Behavioral changes include differences in anxiety (Hamilton et al. 2014; Ou et al. 2015), learning impairment (Chivers et al. 2014), altered predator-avoidance behavior and olfactory senses (Munday et al. 2010), and changes in brain lateralization (Domenici et al. 2012; Jutfelt et al. 2013), although a recent reproducibility study has questioned the validity of some of these findings (Clark et al. 2020). Physiological deficiencies such as reduced aerobic fitness and swimming performance (Munday et al. 2009; Hamilton et al. 2017), decreased growth and survival (Baumann et al. 2012; DePasquale et al. 2015) and changes in reproductive output (Heuer & Grosell 2014; Nagelkerken et al. 2021) have also been observed. Functional impairment at the organismal scale may result from the high energetic cost of compensatory acid-base regulation and osmoregulation, which require the use of high-energy ion pumps, and changes in oxygen binding and transport (Wittmann & Pörtner 2013; Heuer & Grosell 2014; Lefevre 2016). Behavioral changes are thought to arise from a reversal of the ion gradient at GABA<sub>A</sub>, an inhibitory neurotransmitter receptor in the brain (Nilsson et al. 2012; Hamilton et al. 2014).

The effects of inadequate oxygenation on teleost fishes are significant and have been extensively studied. Fish respond behaviorally to sublethal hypoxia with compensatory adjustments such as increases in activity level (Petersen & Petersen 1990; Dalla Via et al. 1998) to avoid hypoxic areas (Domenici et al. 2000) or reduced swimming to lower oxygen needs (Metcalfe & Butler 1984). Fish can also compensate for hypoxic exposure by decreasing food intake to reduce energy demands (van Dam & Pauly 1995). Physiologically, fish may increase oxygen uptake through increased ventilation rate (Lomholt & Johansen 1979), adjusting heart rate and stroke volume to improve gas exchange (Randall 1982; Domenici et al. 2007), and by remodeling gill lamellae to increase respiratory surface area (Sollid 2003; Mitrovic et al. 2009). Low oxygen availability reduces the energy available for maintenance activities, requiring tradeoffs in energy allocation and ultimately costs in fitness and performance. For example, hypoxia can suppress reproductive capacity (Landry et al. 2007) and result in changes in antipredator behaviors and locomotor performance in fishes (Domenici et al. 2007). Hypoxia may be particularly detrimental to fishes in early life stages, where low DO exposure can cause depression in growth (Pichavant et al. 2000) and increased embryonic deformity (Shang & Wu 2004). Because oxygen is an essential metabolic component required for aerobic ATP production, exposure to extreme hypoxia suppresses metabolic rate in fishes (Richards 2009). Maintenance activities like ventilation or osmoregulation cannot be sustained under extreme hypoxic conditions (Domenici et al. 2007), and it is eventually lethal due to cellular necrosis (Richards 2009).

Both ocean acidification (Hamilton et al. 2017) and hypoxia (Mattiasen et al. 2020) have been shown to negatively impact juvenile rockfishes (genus *Sebastes*). Rockfishes are a commercially and economically important group of groundfish occurring primarily in the North Pacific that were historically overfished (Parker et al. 2000). Rockfishes serve important roles throughout their life cycles as both predators of fishes and crustaceans (Hallacher & Roberts 1985; Murie 1995) and as prey to birds (Elliott et al. 2015), large fish, and mammals (Mills et al. 2007). However, life-history characteristics such as decades-long lifespans and long generation times both make them vulnerable to fishing pressure (Parker et al. 2000) and may limit their ability to adapt to rapid changes (on the order of decades) in ocean conditions caused by climate change. Decreases in survivorship that limit replenishment at the vulnerable juvenile stage could create a population bottleneck (Doherty et al. 2004), with consequences for overall population health.

Because they recruit to the coastal shelf during the spring upwelling season, congeneric juvenile rockfish species such as copper (*Sebastes caurinus*) and gopher (*Sebastes carnatus*) rockfish may be particularly impacted by low pH/low DO upwelling events at the vulnerable juvenile stage (Hamilton et al. 2017; Mattiasen et al. 2020). While species occupying the nearshore zone may already be adapted to fluctuations in pH and dissolved oxygen, large-scale shifts in ocean chemistry in response to climate change may push organisms beyond their physiological limits. In general, early life stages of fishes are more sensitive to stress from changes in ocean chemistry due to the increased energetic demands of rapid growth and development (Wu 2009). Smaller size classes of fishes already face greater susceptibility to

predation due to ease of capture and the greater abundance of gape-limited predators that can consume them (Sogard 1997). To avoid predation, many juvenile fish species confine themselves to sheltered microhabitats (Carr 1983), potentially inhibiting their ability to relocate from areas with deleterious ocean chemistry conditions.

Tolerance to acidification and hypoxia can differ significantly between closely related species of fishes with different life history characteristics (Hamilton et al. 2017; Mattiasen et al. 2020). For example, juvenile blue rockfish (Sebastes mystinus) demonstrate greater acclimatization potential to low pH (Hamilton et al. 2017) and hypoxia (Mattiasen et al. 2020) than copper rockfish, which may be due to differences in their exposure to low pH/low DO waters in larval and juvenile microhabitats. Blue rockfish develop in deep offshore waters and settle to the benthos (Lenarz et al. 1991; Love et al. 2002), where pH and DO are lower due to benthic respiration and the intrusion of upwelling plumes. In contrast, copper rockfish develop more in surface waters and initially recruit to the kelp canopy (Carr 1991), where photosynthesis and surface mixing buffers  $pCO_2$  and  $pO_2$  (Frieder et al. 2012), before descending to the benthos after a couple of months (Carr 1991; Love et al. 2002). It is currently unknown if more closely related species with similar life histories (e.g., copper and gopher rockfish, Sebastes caurinus and *Sebastes carnatus*) will exhibit similar tolerances to low pH and hypoxia. Responses of fishes to combined OA and hypoxia have been highly variable across species in previous studies (DePasquale et al. 2015) and could be due to differences in tolerance across life stages or differences in parental or individual exposure history (Montgomery et al. 2019).

Previous studies demonstrated behavioral and physiological impairment and changes in gene expression in juvenile rockfish after chronic, long-term exposure to both low pH (Hamilton et al. 2017) and low DO (Mattiasen et al. 2020). However, few studies have examined the interactive effects of hypoxia and acidified water (Cline et al. 2020; Gunderson et al. 2016), which are likely to co-occur in the natural environment and could act synergistically to further debilitate juvenile rockfish fitness. Furthermore, few studies have examined the physiological effects of short-term exposure to combined acidification and hypoxia that may become increasingly common during upwelling events, nor fishes' ability to recover once conditions have normalized. To determine how future projected upwelling conditions will impact rockfish fitness, I exposed juvenile copper and gopher rockfish to a range of combined low pH and low DO treatments, both in static conditions and fluctuating conditions simulating a 16-day cycle of

upwelling-relaxation that is typical for the California Current region. I then compared behavioral and physiological performance in response to pH/DO exposure history, including: behavioral tests of boldness (escape challenge), brain lateralization, and startle response; and physiological tests of critical swimming speed (U<sub>crit</sub>), capacity for aerobic activity (aerobic scope), hypoxia tolerance (P<sub>crit</sub>), and ventilation rate, as well as growth, condition, and mortality. This study will help elucidate the species-specific physiological resilience of rockfishes to ocean acidification and hypoxia through simulated upwelling experiments at a critical early life history stage.

#### **II. Materials and Methods**

## A. Fish Collections and Tagging

Copper and gopher rockfish recruitment in Central California occurs primarily from March-July, coinciding with the local upwelling season (García-Reyes & Largier 2010). Recently settled young-of-the-year (YOY) copper and gopher rockfish were collected on SCUBA using hand nets from June to July of 2017 (Table 1). Juveniles were obtained from the kelp canopy (~1 m depth) or shallow rocky reef (10-18 m depth) at Stillwater Cove in Carmel Bay, CA (36 °34'N, 121°56' W). Fish were transported to the NOAA NMFS Southwest Fisheries Science Center aquarium facility in Santa Cruz, CA, and acclimated at 13-14°C and ambient pH and DO (~8.0 pH, ~8.3 mg/L DO) in flow-through seawater tanks for a minimum of 24 hours.

Juveniles were then anesthetized and tagged subdermally with elastomer dye implants (Northwest Marine Technologies, Inc.) that fluoresce under UV-A light. Unique tag color combinations and placements (below the first or second dorsal on the left or right side) distinguished each animal, enabling tracking of individuals across all experimental trials. Following a five-day recovery period, juveniles were removed from tanks, blotted dry and weighed (to the nearest 0.1 mg), measured for standard and total length (to the nearest 1 mm), and sorted into 115 L flow-through treatment tanks, with two replicate tanks per treatment level. Approximately 20 individuals were reared in each treatment tank. Fish were too young to identify to the species level at the beginning of the experiment. Final species designation was performed at the end of the experiment (after 13 weeks), at which point species could be differentiated by examining the coloration surrounding the lateral line (copper rockfish have a white clearing, while gopher rockfish have colored blotches).

## **B.** Rearing Conditions

Source water entered a 2000 L reservoir, which was maintained at 100%  $pO_2$  saturation (~9.0 mg  $O_2$  L<sup>-1</sup>) by bubbling air through a gas diffuser. Water was pumped from the main reservoir into five 500 L header tanks, where pH and dissolved oxygen were manipulated for each treatment by bubbling in CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub> gas, respectively. Gas flow was regulated by solenoid valves, diffused through Pentair Point Four Micro Bubble Diffusers, and mixed throughout the water column with recirculation pumps. WTW pH 3310 Instruments with SenTix HWD pH probes were used to monitor pH in each header tank and gas flow was controlled by Loligo Systems CapCTRL software. DO was monitored in header tanks using Loligo Systems optical dipping probe oxygen mini sensors, with N<sub>2</sub> gas flow controlled by WitroxCTRL software.

Each 500 L reservoir fed two replicate 115 L treatment tanks, set at constant flow rates of ~30 ml/sec, where juveniles were held. Chiller units connected to the main 2000 L reservoir tank maintained a constant temperature of 14°C. Temperature, pH and DO were checked daily in all tanks with a Hach HQ40d portable multi meter, and setpoints were adjusted if necessary to achieve target levels. Water samples taken every 2 weeks from the treatment tanks were analyzed for total alkalinity (using a Tiamo alkalinity titrator) and pH (using pH spectrophotometer) to enable calculations of the carbonate chemistry parameters in the system using the Excel macro CO2SYS (Lewis & Wallace 1998). Fish were fed every other day with fish pellets and tanks were cleaned after each feeding.

Fish were introduced directly to treatment water in August of 2017 without any ramping down of pH or DO (Table 1). Juveniles were reared in one of five treatments, including three static treatments in which pH and DO were held constant for the duration of the experiment (13 weeks), and two fluctuating treatments that simulated alternating upwelling-relaxation cycles. Static treatments included (1) control pH/DO at 8.0 pH, 8.3 mg/L DO, (2) moderate low pH/DO at 7.5 pH, 4.0 mg/L DO, and (3) extreme low pH/DO at 7.3 pH, 2.0 mg/L DO (Figure 2, Table 2). The two fluctuating treatments ("upwelling" and "relaxation") followed a recurring cycle of 8 days of 7.3 pH, 2.0 mg/L DO, followed by 8 recovery days at control conditions. The two fluctuating treatments had similar cycles of pH/DO, but fish from the upwelling tanks were tested only during days 6-7 of the upwelling phase (7.3 pH, 2.0 mg/L DO) and fish from the

relaxation tanks were tested only during days 6-7 of the relaxation phase (8.0 pH, 8.3 mg/L DO). This design assured the independence of the treatments. The mean of the fluctuating treatments was ~7.7 pH and ~5.3 mg/L DO, falling between the control and moderate treatments. The upwelling and relaxation treatment cycles were staggered by two days to allow enough time for trials to be completed. Trials for the static treatments (control, moderate, and extreme) were held in the 2-week period surrounding the fluctuating trials (Table 1). On one occasion during P<sub>crit</sub> trials, the relaxation/upwelling period was extended to 10 days and trials were spread through days 7-10 due to equipment failure. The moderate treatment reflected the most severe upwelling conditions recorded during 2017 by a SeapHOx instrument deployed at Stillwater Cove (Figure 1). The extreme treatment represents upwelling under projections for additional reductions to pH by 2100 (IPCC 2014) and falls within measured parameters for DO in more severe upwelling regions in the northern California Current System (Chan et al. 2008).

Individual responses to sublethal stress were evaluated through a series of behavioral and physiological trials. The "main experiment" took place in 2017 and involved eight metrics, including the escape challenge, ventilation rate, critical swimming speed, aerobic scope (standard and maximum metabolic rate), hypoxia tolerance, and growth, body condition, and mortality. Efforts were made to measure all eight metrics on the same set of four individual fish per tank at minimum (eight per treatment), but some samples were ultimately excluded from the analyses for some trials due to factors like equipment failure, poor data quality, or mortality before fish could be identified to species level (Table 4). Extra fish were occasionally run through trials as backups in case of mortality. Two short-term experiments were conducted to complement the main experiment, including behavioral lateralization in November 2017 and a startle response test in July of 2018 (see below). Fish for these experiments were reared in separate tanks from those in the main experiment.

Food was withheld for 36 hours before experiments and juveniles were given a minimum 5-day rest period between experiments. All experimental trials were performed in pH and DO conditions matching the assigned treatment conditions (within  $\pm$  0.05 units for pH and  $\pm$  0.2 mg/L for DO) and in temperatures within  $\pm$  0.5°C of treatment tanks. CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub> gas were bubbled into experimental holding tanks and water was mixed and chilled with ice packs or recirculating coil chillers prior to introducing fish. pH and DO levels were confirmed with the

Hach meter immediately before fish were collected from treatment tanks and placed in experimental vessels.

## **C. Behavioral Trials**

#### **Escape Challenge**

Juveniles underwent escape challenge trials to evaluate boldness, exploratory behavior, and learning ability (adapted from Jutfelt et al. 2013). Sample sizes ranged from 3-27 fish per treatment, with higher replication for copper rockfish than for gopher rockfish (see Table 4). Although they were introduced to treatment water at the same time as the rest of the fish, a subset of gopher rockfish were not tagged until week six, so they were excluded from this experiment. Fish were given a minimum of a five-day rest period after tagging, and then underwent escape trials at control pH and DO conditions (time point 1, 0 weeks exposure) to establish baseline behavioral patterns for each individual. Escape trials were repeated in treatment water after juveniles had acclimated to their pH/DO treatment conditions for one to two weeks for the static treatments (time point 2), or after one full 16-day cycle for the fluctuating treatments, to identify behavioral disturbances or potential learning responses.

Fish were individually placed inside white PVC cylinders with 5 cm diameter exit holes cut 10 cm above the bottom (Figure 3). A black acrylic divider was inserted into a slit located 8 cm from the top of the cylinder to isolate the fish in the upper half of the chamber and conceal the exit hole below. PVC cylinders were held inside 40 L insulated opaque aquaria held in a water table to maintain constant temperature. Trials were simultaneously performed in eight replicate escape chambers and aquaria. Fish were placed into the upper chamber above the divider. After a 15-minute acclimation, investigators removed the divider while remaining out of view of the fish. The time required for the fish's head and tail to exit through the hole was recorded. Trials were terminated after 30 minutes if the fish did not exit the hole. Only fish that successfully exited from the hole in both time points were included in the analysis.

#### **Behavioral Lateralization**

Behavioral lateralization, an expression of brain functional asymmetry, measures an individual's bias for turning left or right. A higher degree of lateralization conveys advantages in

cognitive function and predator avoidance in individual fish, improving performance in schooling cohesion (Bisazza & Dadda 2005), escape response (Dadda et al. 2010), spatial orientation (Sovrano et al. 2005), and multitasking (Dadda & Bisazza 2006). However, the degree of lateralization in fishes likely reflects a tradeoff between cognitive advantages in highly lateralized individuals and the ability of poorly lateralized fish to cope with threats from all directions equally (Vallortigara & Rogers 2005). Exposure to elevated  $pCO_2$  has been shown to alter lateralization in both temperate (Jutfelt et al. 2013; Domenici et al. 2014) and tropical marine fishes (Domenici et al. 2012; Nilsson et al. 2012).

Twenty gopher rockfish were held at control conditions until week 10, when they were tagged and divided into two tanks (control and extreme). These fish were assessed for changes in behavioral lateralization through detour tests in a double T-maze (Bisazza et al. 1998), but did not undergo any other behavioral or physiological trials. Due to low availability, copper rockfish were not run through lateralization trials. Fish first underwent lateralization experiments in control water (time point 1; week 11). Lateralization tests were then repeated after a 7-day exposure to the control or a constant extreme treatment (time point 2; week 12). Individual fish were introduced to a  $50 \times 30 \times 25$  cm (L × W × H) opaque aquarium containing the two-way Tmaze and allowed to acclimate in treatment water for 3 minutes. Fish were gently coaxed down the center channel with a net moving at a constant rate and forced to make a left or right turn decision. Twelve consecutive tests were conducted for each fish, alternating the direction of travel each time to account for possible asymmetry in the experimental set-up. Turn preference was assessed at a population level and compared among treatments using a lateralization index. The absolute lateralization index  $(L_A)$  identifies if a directional bias existed at the population level irrespective of direction. Relative lateralization index (L<sub>R</sub>) characterizes turn preference for a specific direction, where positive values indicate a right turning bias and negative values indicate a left turning bias.

Absolute lateralization ( $L_A$ ) = |#right turns - # left turns| / (# right turns + # left turns) x 100 Relative lateralization ( $L_R$ ) = (#right turns - # left turns) / (# right turns + # left turns) x 100

#### **Startle Response**

Fast-start responses, or sudden accelerations to avoid predators, may determine the outcomes of predator-prey interactions and are therefore important for survival (Domenici & Blake 1997). The fast-start response is characterized by a unilateral muscle contraction that bends the body into a C-shape, a return tail flip due to a contra-lateral contraction, and either steady swimming or coasting (Weihs 1973). This startle response is thought to be mediated by Mauthner cells, a pair of neurons in the brain stem that respond to visual and auditory stimulus by creating an action potential and initiating the muscle contractions that create a fast-start (Eaton et al. 2001). The effectiveness of the fast-start response has been shown to be an important predictor of survival for juvenile damselfish (McCormick et al. 2018). Both hypoxia (Lefrançois et al. 2005) and elevated CO<sub>2</sub> (Allan et al. 2014) have been found to negatively affect reactivity to stimuli in fishes.

In June of 2018, YOY copper and gopher rockfish were collected from the kelp forest in Stillwater Cove and acclimated to ambient seawater conditions at the NOAA lab in Santa Cruz for two weeks. Twenty fish were then placed in one of two replicate tanks of three treatment tanks for a period of 6-8 days: control (8.0 pH, 8.3 mg/L DO), moderate (7.5 pH, 4.0 mg/L DO) and extreme (7.3 pH, 2.0 mg/L DO). Fish were too young to differentiate between copper and gopher rockfish species. To compare the effectiveness of predator-avoidance startle response behavior among treatments, fish were placed in a shallow 91.4 cm diameter plexiglass-bottom tank with a 35.6 cm opaque testing arena inside and mirror angled below at 45 degrees (Figure 3). Fish were left to acclimate for 15 minutes prior to the start of the trial. Individuals were then startled from above using a 100-millisecond blast of air from an Arduino-controlled solenoid valve that was deployed next to the fish. To standardize for fish position in relation to the startled when they moved to the center of the opaque divider. A high-speed camera on a tripod was used to record the fish's responses in the mirror at 480 frames per second.

The effectiveness of the Mauthner-initiated startle response (Figure 4) was evaluated in Image J using a manual tracking plug-in to identify and track the individual's center of mass. Response latency was measured as the time between the onset of the stimulus (first visual evidence of a depression in the water surface from the air blast) and the first detectable escape movement of the individual (McCormick et al. 2018). Distance traveled (cm) and duration (s) of the first two axial body bends was recorded and used to calculate fast-start speed (cm/s).

## **D.** Physiological Trials

#### **Ventilation Rate**

When exposed to hypoxic conditions, fish compensate by increasing the frequency and volume of their ventilations to raise blood  $pO_2$ , also known as the hypoxic ventilatory response (Perry et al. 2009). Oxygen sensing chemoreceptors in the gills detect changes in blood or water  $pO_2$  and trigger a hyperventilatory response (Perry et al. 2009). Ventilation rates were evaluated during weeks three to five, or after two fluctuating cycles. To examine how fish ventilation rates differed among treatments, 9-27 juveniles per treatment and species were placed in a set of ten 5  $\times$  10  $\times$  4 cm chambers within a 25  $\times$  20  $\times$  4 cm (L x W x H) flow-through opaque acrylic tank. Each chamber was fed by a 5 ml/s flow of seawater at treatment pH and DO levels at 13-14°C. A single fish was placed in each chamber atop a  $15 \times 5$  cm piece of waterproof paper that was curved into a U shape to hold the fish in position. Two overlapping GoPro Hero 4 cameras were mounted above the chamber to enable remote recording. The tank was shrouded from view and illuminated from above (Figure 3). Fish were left to acclimate and return to basal ventilation rates for two hours after initial placement. Following the acclimation period, the cameras were remotely activated and juveniles were filmed for 30 minutes. Video files were analyzed to calculate ventilation rates by averaging the number of open/close cycles of the gill operculum (beats per minute, or BPM) from 3 randomly selected 1-minute intervals for each individual.

#### **Critical Swimming Speed (Ucrit)**

Critical swimming speed (U<sub>crit</sub>), a metric for swimming ability and fitness in fishes, is similar to an exercise stress test (Brett 1964) and was investigated using established methods for juvenile rockfish (Kashef et al. 2014; Hamilton et al. 2017). U<sub>crit</sub> trials took place after six to seven weeks in treatment water or after three16-day fluctuating cycles, with n = 8-12 per treatment and species. Individual fish were measured for total length and placed in treatment water in a Loligo 1.5 L glass swim tunnel with honeycomb inserts that maintained laminar flow (Figure 3). The flume was constantly refreshed with seawater from a water bath using a submersible pump with 5 ml/s flow. Water velocity in the tunnel was calibrated using Loligo's DPTV system. Except for a  $\sim 30 \times 24$  cm viewing window, the flume was shrouded in opaque foam to limit visual cues from the investigator. The end of the tunnel was illuminated to create a light-dark gradient and encourage the fish to swim forward. Fish were left to acclimate for 15 minutes with water flow set to a rate of 0.5 body length (bl) per second. After acclimation, flow was raised to 1 bl/s and increased by increments of 1 bl/s every two minutes until the fish fatigued (could no longer maintain position). Juveniles were discouraged from resting against the rear honeycomb with motion from a flashlight beam. U<sub>crit</sub> was calculated using the formula:

$$U_{crit} = U_i + U(T/T_i)$$

where  $U_i$  is penultimate swimming speed in bl/s, U is the velocity increment (1 bl/s), T is time elapsed at the fatigue velocity, and  $T_i$  is the time interval (2 minutes).

#### **Aerobic Scope**

Aerobic scope, a measurement of the capacity for aerobic activity and organismal fitness, is equal to the difference between the standard metabolic rate (SMR) and the maximum metabolic rate (MMR). SMR describes the rate of oxygen consumption at a given temperature during the period of lowest activity, while MMR is defined as the highest rate of oxygen consumption that an animal can attain under specified environmental conditions (Fry 1971). The scope, therefore, describes the excess energy available for activities like locomotion, reproduction, and tissue growth (Wang et al. 2009).

SMR for juvenile rockfish was determined using a Loligo Systems intermittent flow respirometer inside a  $109 \times 49 \times 49$  cm insulated water bath (Figure 3) during weeks 10-12, after five 16-day fluctuating cycles. Sample sizes ranged from 6-10 fish per species and treatment. Single fish were weighed and placed in four individual 200 mL glass cylindrical chambers. 10 mm OX11220 flow-through oxygen cells recorded dissolved oxygen concentrations in the chambers during repeated 11 minute duration cycles. Loligo AutoResp software controlled temperature and dissolved oxygen using an external recirculating coil chiller and solenoid valve regulating N<sub>2</sub> gas. A Neptune Systems Apex controller with a solenoid valve was used to regulate CO<sub>2</sub> flow. To maintain consistent water quality inside the respirometer, chambers were flushed with water from the water bath (5 mins), allowed to stabilize (1 min), and measured for dissolved oxygen concentration (5 mins) in a repeating loop. To capture SMR during a period of minimum metabolic activity, juveniles were left to rest overnight in the respirometer at treatment pH/DO levels from approximately 7 pm-10 am. SMR was calculated by taking the lowest 20<sup>th</sup> quantile of oxygen consumption rate scaled to body size (MO<sub>2</sub>; mg O<sub>2</sub>kg<sup>-1</sup> hr<sup>-1</sup>) from the 10 pm-6 am period of intermittent respirometry measurement loops using the fishMO2 package (Chabot 2020) in R. Only loops with  $R^2 > 0.95$  were included.

MMR was determined by measuring oxygen consumption rate during exercise during weeks eight and 9 (or at the end of four 16-day fluctuating cycles). Sample sizes ranged from 5-9 individuals per species and treatment. Each fish was placed in the swim flume and encouraged to swim at a velocity of one body length below their previously determined U<sub>crit</sub> for five minutes, using flashlight cues to discourage resting at the back of the flume, when necessary. MO<sub>2</sub> was measured directly in the 1.5 L swim flume during the 5-minute swimming period.

#### Hypoxia Tolerance (Pcrit)

Critical oxygen level, or P<sub>crit</sub>, is a measure of oxygen extraction capacity and hypoxia tolerance in fishes (Chapman et al. 2002; Rogers et al. 2016). Because oxygen is an electron receptor that drives ATP production in aerobic organisms, oxygen consumption rate is considered a proxy measurement for aerobic metabolic rate (Brown et al. 2004). Fishes can typically oxyregulate, or maintain stable oxygen uptake across a wide range of oxygen saturation levels, using physiological coping mechanisms such as increasing ventilation rate and suppressing reproduction, digestion, and growth (Perry et al. 2009; Pörtner & Grieshaber 1993; Wang et al. 2009). When oxygen saturation falls below a critical threshold (P<sub>crit</sub>), fish transition to anaerobic metabolism and oxyconform, reducing their oxygen uptake with decreasing oxygen tension (Pörtner & Grieshaber 1993). P<sub>crit</sub> is therefore defined as the  $pO_2$  at which fishes switch from oxyregulating to oxyconforming, signaled by a drop in standard metabolic rate (SMR) as  $pO_2$  decreases (Rogers et al. 2016).

Perit trials were initiated at 8 am on the morning after SMR trials. Perit was determined by decreasing the oxygen saturation by 10% increments from 70% to 40% and recording three flush/wait/measure loops at each increment. To achieve greater precision closer to Perit, oxygen was then lowered by 5% increments until the conclusion of the trial at 15% saturation. Perit was calculated for each individual using the R package fishMO2 (Chabot 2020). The package fits a regression line to a fish's decreasing oxygen conforming MO<sub>2</sub> values and identifies Perit as the

intersection between the regression line and a horizontal line at the SMR value. Respirometry loops with  $R^2 < 0.95$  and trials with an  $R^2$  value <0.80 for the MO<sub>2</sub> and DO regression were excluded from the analysis. Sample sizes for P<sub>crit</sub> ranged between 6-12 individuals per treatment and species.

#### Growth, Body Condition, and Mortality

Standard length (mm), total length (mm), and weight (g) were recorded when fish were first placed in treatment water and at the conclusion of the experiment after 13 weeks in treatment water (six 16-day fluctuating cycles). Specific growth rate (SGR), which represents the percentage of starting body mass gained per day (Wang et al. 2009), was calculated using the formula:

$$SGR = \ln W_t - \ln W_0 / t * 100\%$$

Where  $W_t = final$  weight,  $W_0 = initial$  weight, and t = days in treatment conditions. A subset (n = 39) of the gopher rockfish were weighed for the first time one month after the start of the experiment, and growth rate for these individuals was calculated using this delayed initial weight. Body condition was calculated at the beginning (or one month later for 39 gopher rockfish) and end of the experiment using the Fulton's K condition metric, where K = weight/length<sup>3</sup>. Fish with a higher Fulton's K value are heavier for a given length and presumed to be in better condition. Percent mortality was determined by recording the number of mortalities per day and dividing by the total number of fish (number died / total number of fish x 100%). Because some fish died early in the experiment before they could be definitively identified as a copper or gopher rockfish, both species were grouped together for this analysis. A range of 9-28 fish per treatment and species were evaluated for growth, body condition, and mortality.

## **III. Statistical Analysis**

Behavioral and physiological data from most experiments (escape time, U<sub>crit</sub>, aerobic scope, P<sub>crit</sub>, ventilation, growth) were compared among treatments with mixed effects models in R (v4.2.2; R Core Team 2022) using the nlme package (v3.1.160; Pinheiro et al. 2022). Wald chi-square and p-values were obtained using a type-II ANOVA from the car package (v3.1.1; Fox & Weisberg 2019) unless there was a significant interaction term in which case a type-III

ANOVA was used. Treatment and species were included in models as fixed effects. Tank was included as a random intercept to account for the non-independence of fish within a tank in all models except for lateralization, when tank was not replicated. The interaction between species and treatment was retained in the model to determine if species exhibited similar patterns across treatments. For lateralization, escape time, and body condition, where trials were repeated on the same individuals, fish ID was also included as a random intercept and time point was included as a fixed effect. Escape trial data and startle latency were natural log-transformed to achieve normality. Model parameters were estimated using restricted maximum likelihood (REML). Model assumptions including normality of residuals, linearity and homoscedasticity were tested through visual inspection of Q-Q plots and by plotting the residuals vs. the fixed effects. For models with significant effects, additional single-species models were run and Tukey's HSD pairwise comparisons were performed between treatments for each species using the emmeans package (version 1.8.1-1, Lenth 2022) in R. Mortality was analyzed using a generalized linear model with a binomial distribution and no random effect. Residuals for mortality were evaluated using the DHARMa package (version 0.4.6, Harti 2022).

## **IV. Results**

## A. Carbonate Chemistry

Experimental treatment conditions were maintained close to intended pH and DO levels. Daily readings from the Hach probe were 0.07 units lower on average than pH results from spectrophotometry of discrete water samples (Table 2). Due to low replication of discrete water samples for some treatments, treatment means are based on daily readings from the Hach meter. Means of fluctuating treatments (upwelling and relaxation) were approximately 7.66 pH and 5.29 mg/L DO, which was higher than the moderate static treatment at 7.5 pH/ 4.26 mg/L DO.

## **B.** Behavior

#### **Escape Time**

There was no difference in final escape time among the static pH/DO treatments for either species and no difference between static and fluctuating conditions (Treatment,  $\chi^2 = 1.54$ ,

df = 4, p = 0.818; Table 3). There was no difference in escape time between time point 1 in control conditions and time point 2 after two weeks in treatment water for any of the treatments (Time point,  $\chi^2 = 1.98$ , df = 1, p = 0.160, Figure 5). I also did not detect a difference in escape time between species (Species,  $\chi^2 = 0.65$ , df = 1, p = 0.42) nor were there significant interactions between any factors. When examining only time point 2, escape time did not differ among treatments (Treatment,  $\chi^2 = 4.76$ , df = 4, p = 0.31).

#### **Behavioral Lateralization**

Gopher rockfish were poorly lateralized (relative lateralization between 20 and -10) and showed no change in relative behavioral lateralization ( $\chi^2 = 0.85$ , df = 1, p = 0.355, Table 3; Figure 6) or absolute lateralization ( $\chi^2 = 1.52$ , df = 1, p = 0.22) between control and extreme static treatments. Individuals displayed no changes in relative or absolute lateralization between time point 1 which was performed in control water and time point 2 which was performed in treatment water (Time point,  $\chi^2 = 0.51$ , df = 1, p = 0.47 for relative;  $\chi^2 = 0.01$ , df = 1, p = 0.94 for absolute).

#### **Startle Response**

All fish, regardless of pH/DO treatment, successfully executed a fast-start in response to the startle stimulus. There was no difference in response latency among treatments (Treatment  $\chi^2$  = 2.96, df = 2, p = 0.23, Figure 7). Fast-start velocity did not differ among fish reared in the different static pH/DO treatments (Treatment  $\chi^2$  = 0.1.19, df = 2, p = 0.55, Table 3, Figure 7).

## C. Physiology

#### **Ventilation Rate**

Ventilation rate increased as pH/DO treatments became more extreme (Treatment,  $\chi^2 = 151.09$ , df = 4, p< 0.0001; Table 3, Figure 8). Ventilation rates increased progressively from the control treatment to the moderate low pH/DO treatment, and were highest in the extreme low pH/DO treatment. Compared to the control, ventilations per minute (VPM) were 71% higher in the moderate treatment and 118% higher in the extreme treatment for copper rockfish. VPM was 80% higher in moderate treatments and 115% higher in extreme treatments compared to the

control for gopher rockfish. Interestingly, ventilation rates remained high in the upwelling phase of the fluctuating treatments (similar in magnitude to the extreme treatment fish; with a 119% and 117% increase relative to control for copper and gopher rockfish, respectively), and then appeared to recover in the relaxation phase, with values comparable to the control treatment. Mean VPM was 101% higher during upwelling than relaxation for copper rockfish and 84% higher for gopher rockfish. Ventilation rates did not differ between species (Species,  $\chi^2 = 0.04$ , df = 1, p = 0.84). However, there was a significant Treatment x Species interaction (Treatment x Species,  $\chi^2 = 15.21$ , df = 4, p < 0.01), due to species differences in the upwelling treatment where copper rockfish had a higher VPM than gopher rockfish.

#### **Critical Swimming Speed (Ucrit)**

Critical swimming speed differed as a function of pH/DO treatment according to the main effects of the model (Treatment,  $\chi^2 = 27.38$ , df = 4, p < 0.0001, Table 3; Figure 9). Tukey's HSD test showed that only the upwelling-relaxation and extreme-relaxation pairwise comparisons were significant for copper rockfish, with no significant differences between treatments for gopher rockfish. The high significance of the overall model for gopher rockfish was likely due to the large difference in means between the control and extreme treatment and relaxation and upwelling treatments. Although not always significant in pairwise post-hoc tests, there was a consistent pattern where the slowest swimming speeds occurred in the extreme static pH/DO treatment and the simulated upwelling phase of the fluctuating treatment for both species. For copper rockfish, Ucrit was 8% lower in the moderate treatment and 17% lower in the extreme treatment when compared to the control. For gophers, U<sub>crit</sub> dropped by 17% in the moderate and 20% in extreme relative to the control treatment. Juveniles of both species exhibited trends of impairment in swimming capabilities during the upwelling phase compared to control fish (18% reduction for copper rockfish and 24% reduction for gopher rockfish), but appeared to fully recover when returned to control water following 6-7 days of simulated relaxation. Copper rockfish tested during upwelling exhibited a 22% decrease in Ucrit compared to the relaxation phase and gopher rockfish displayed a 24% decrease. There was no difference in critical swimming speed between species (Species,  $\chi^2 = 3.42$ , df = 1, p = 0.06) and the relative response patterns were consistent across the treatments (Treatment x Species,  $\chi^2 = 3.19$ , df = 4, p = 0.53).

#### **Aerobic Scope**

Aerobic scope differed significantly across the combined pH/DO treatments (Treatment,  $\chi^2 = 62.38$ , df = 4, p < 0.0001, Table 3; Figure 10) but not between species (Species,  $\chi^2 = 1.16$ , df = 1, p = 0.28). The relative patterns were consistent across the treatments for each species (Treatment x Species,  $\chi^2 = 2.05$ , df = 4, p = 0.73). For copper rockfish, aerobic scope fell by 46% for both the moderate and extreme treatments relative to the control. For gopher rockfish, aerobic scope decreased by 28% for the moderate treatment (though not significantly) and 48% for the extreme treatment relative to control. In the two fluctuating treatments, aerobic scope under upwelling conditions matched that in the extreme treatment, while it recovered to values similar to fish in the control treatment at the end of the relaxation period. During upwelling, copper rockfish exhibited a 74% and 72% decrease in aerobic scope values relative to relaxation and control, respectively, and gopher rockfish decreased by 72% and 71%.

Patterns in aerobic scope were not explained by differences in the standard metabolic rate but were driven primarily by changes in maximum metabolic rate. While at rest, juvenile rockfish largely appeared to metabolically compensate for the physiological impacts of exposure to combined pH/DO stressors, and there was no difference in resting metabolic rate among treatments (Treatment,  $\chi^2 = 8.10$ , df = 4, p = 0.088) or species (Species,  $\chi^2 = 2.09$ , df = 1, p = 0.15) and no significant interaction (Treatment x Species,  $\chi^2 = 9.19$ , df = 4, p = 0.06). However, there was a trend towards decreasing resting metabolic rate as treatments became more extreme for gopher rockfish. Maximum metabolic rate decreased significantly as treatments became more extreme (Treatment,  $\chi^2 = 62.42$ , df = 4, p < 0.0001) with no differences between species and no interaction (Species,  $\chi^2 = 1.84$ , df = 1, p = 0.17; Treatment x Species  $\chi^2 = 1.95$ , df = 4, p = 0.75), matching the aerobic scope results. Relative to the control, copper rockfish had a 37% and 36% decrease in MMR in the moderate and extreme treatments, respectively, and gopher rockfish experienced a 26% decrease in moderate and 43% decrease in extreme treatments. Similar to aerobic scope, MMR of fish in the upwelling treatment resembled fish in the extreme static treatment. Copper rockfish exhibited a 58% decrease in the upwelling treatment relative to relaxation and a 57% decrease relative to control treatments. Gopher rockfish showed a 57% decrease in the upwelling treatment relative to relaxation and a 56% decrease relative to control.

In addition, fish in the relaxation treatment recovered fully in MMR after 7-8 days in control conditions in both species, mirroring those in the static control treatment.

#### Hypoxia Tolerance (Pcrit)

In the control treatment, copper rockfish had a mean P<sub>crit</sub> of 31.9% air saturation (~2.67 mg/L) and gopher rockfish had a mean Pcrit of 29.3% air saturation (~2.46 mg/L). Pcrit decreased as the static treatments became more extreme, indicating that exposure to deoxygenated conditions led to an increase in hypoxia tolerance (Treatment,  $\chi^2 = 25.11$ , df = 4, p < 0.0001, Table 3; Figure 11). It was not readily apparent which treatments were responsible for the significant treatment effect from the Tukey's HSD post-hoc tests, but it was likely due to the extreme and control treatments, which exhibited the biggest differences in P<sub>crit</sub>. For copper rockfish in the moderate and extreme treatments, Pcrit was reduced to 22.3% (~1.87 mg/L) and 15.0% air saturation (~1.26 mg/L) respectively, dropping by 30% and 53% relative to the control treatment. P<sub>crit</sub> for gopher rockfish in the moderate and extreme treatments fell to 24.6% (~2.06 mg/L) and 12.2% air saturation (~1.02 mg/L) and was 16% and 58% lower than the control treatment. While the model showed no effect of species (Species,  $\chi^2 = 1.01$ , df = 1, p = 0.32), there was a significant interaction between species and treatment (Treatment x Species,  $\chi^2 =$ 18.97, df = 4, p < 0.001). This was driven by a higher P<sub>crit</sub> for gopher rockfish compared to copper rockfish in the moderate and relaxation treatments, while gophers had lower P<sub>crit</sub> for the remaining treatments. For copper rockfish, P<sub>crit</sub> values showed only a 10% difference in upwelling relative to relaxation (21.2% and 19.3% air saturation or  $\sim$ 1.78 and  $\sim$ 1.62 mg/L). The mean for the upwelling treatment was 34% lower than the control treatment. For gopher rockfish, Pcrit decreased by 47% in the upwelling treatment relative to relaxation (14.6% vs. 27.4% air saturation, or ~1.22 and 2.30 mg/L) and by 50% relative to control.

#### Growth, Body Condition, and Mortality

Specific growth rate (after 13 weeks) differed among treatments (Treatment,  $\chi^2 = 66.19$ , df = 4, p < 0.0001, Table 3; Figure 12 and 13). Growth was depressed in the extreme static treatment (59% decline) as well as the upwelling and relaxation treatments (30% and 27% decline, respectively) relative to control treatments for copper rockfish. Gopher rockfish exhibited the same trends, with the lowest growth in the extreme static pH/DO treatment (46%

drop relative to control) and intermediate growth in the upwelling and relaxation treatments (35% and 27% drop). Growth rates in the fluctuating treatment were intermediate between the moderate and extreme low treatments, although pairwise comparisons between these treatments were generally not significant. Growth rate was higher for copper rockfish than for gophers (Species,  $\chi^2 = 21.93$ , df = 1, p < 0.0001) with no significant interaction (Treatment x Species  $\chi^2 = 6.25$ , df = 4, p = 0.18). Growth rate decreased over time in all treatments for both species (Figure 13), with the greatest declines in the extreme and fluctuating upwelling/relaxation treatments.

Body condition differed among treatments (Treatment,  $\chi^2 = 11.59$ , df = 4, p = 0.02) with condition being poorest in the extreme and highest in the control treatment. Condition also differed between the initial and final time points (Time point,  $\chi^2 = 50.16$ , df = 1, p < 0.0001), but not between species (Species,  $\chi^2 = 0.15$ , df = 1, p = 0.70). While all treatments showed an increase in body condition between the start and end of the experiment, the increase was different among treatments and was lowest for the extreme treatment, leading to a significant Time point x Treatment interaction (Treatment x Time Point,  $\chi^2 = 11.09$ , df = 4, p = 0.03). Final body condition differed among treatments (Treatment,  $\chi^2 = 12.13$ , df = 4, p = 0.02) and was lowest in the extreme treatment, but condition did not differ between species (Species,  $\chi^2 = 0.06$ , df = 1, p = 0.81, Figure 12c and 12d). Post-hoc pairwise comparisons were unable to identify which treatments contributed to the significant treatment effect.

Overall, survivorship was high despite chronic exposure to low pH/DO conditions over a 13-week period. Mortality differed significantly among treatments (Treatment,  $\chi^2 = 15.69$ , df = 4, p < 0.01; Figure 14). Cumulatively, three mortalities occurred in the control treatment, nine in the extreme, zero in the moderate treatment, two in relaxation, and three in upwelling.

## **V.** Discussion

#### Summary

This study presents evidence that fluctuations in pH and dissolved oxygen, simulating future upwelling/relaxation cycles in the California Current, can have significant cumulative detrimental impacts on rockfish physiology (growth) compared to exposure to constant mean conditions. However, fish can recover from impairment of physiological performance that occurs during exposure to extreme low pH/DO conditions (increased ventilation rate, reduced critical

swimming speed, reduced aerobic scope), and reacclimate to control conditions within 6-7 days. Trends showing increased hypoxia tolerance under low pH/DO conditions were associated with compensatory increases in ventilation rate. I found no significant effects of combined OA and hypoxia on behavioral metrics, including boldness (escape challenge), behavioral lateralization, and startle response. Copper and gopher rockfish, two closely related congeners that share many life history characteristics, performed similarly across most physiological trials, exhibiting increasing physiological impairment as treatment pH and DO decreased. Because fish had impaired physiological performance during the upwelling stage, followed by full or near-full recovery during the relaxation phase of the fluctuating cycle, it is likely that the duration, frequency, and severity of future hypoxic, acidic events will ultimately determine the impacts of climate change stressors on fitness (Shimps et al. 2005). In addition, despite short-term recovery to conditions in the fluctuating treatment, there may be additional negative cumulative impacts to growth and other energetic costs not measured here that may affect fish fitness.

## **Behavior**

Behaviorally, copper and gopher rockfish demonstrated resilience to both constant and fluctuating OA and hypoxia. I found no difference in escape time, a proxy for boldness or exploratory activity, among combined pH/dissolved oxygen treatments. In contrast, Mattiasen et al. (2020) reported an increase in escape time with decreasing DO levels for copper rockfish, indicating a reduction in boldness under hypoxia. While the results here were inconclusive due to high variance in escape time, the general trend was similar with escape time increasing in the lowest pH/DO treatments. Ocean acidification has been shown to increase anxiety in fishes (Jutfelt et al. 2013), so absence of an effect is contrary to the expected additive or synergistic response under multiple stressors. However, other studies have shown that combinations of low pH and low DO can be antagonistic. For example, exploration during exposure to an alarm cue, another proxy for boldness, decreased as pH and oxygen decreased in single stressor treatments, but did not differ among treatments under exposure to multiple stressors (combined low pH and low DO) in juvenile kelp, gopher, and black & yellow rockfish (Davis et al 2018). One explanation is that increases in CO<sub>2</sub> enhance physiological tolerance to hypoxia in some cases; for example, European sea bass exposed to increases in CO<sub>2</sub> exhibited greater hypoxia tolerance

and increased hemoglobin-O<sub>2</sub> affinity than fishes exposed to control CO<sub>2</sub> (Montgomery et al. 2019).

I did not detect a difference in brain lateralization among treatments for gopher rockfish. In contrast, for the closely related copper rockfish, lateralization decreased with decreasing dissolved oxygen (Mattiasen et al. 2020), and fish showed more right turn bias in a detour test as  $pCO_2$  became more extreme (Hamilton et al. 2017). It is possible that the contrasting effects of hypoxia and OA worked in opposition to produce no change in lateralization to combined pH/DO exposure. In addition, behavioral lateralization tests may not be repeatable within individuals (Roche et al. 2020), which might also explain differences between studies and a lack of an effect in this context, where fish were tested before and after exposure to pH/DO stressors. Furthermore, a recent validation study questioned the impact of OA on cognition and behavior in coral reef fishes including lateralization, avoidance of chemical cues, and activity levels (Clark et al. 2020), so these effects may not be as ubiquitous as previously thought.

Gopher and copper rockfish showed no significant difference in startle response latency and velocity with treatment. Similarly, locomotor kinematics and latency for blue rockfish faststart response are unaffected by short exposures (1 and 10 minutes) to hypoxia only (Leary 2017). However, in contrast to this study where all fish successfully executed a startle response, fewer blue rockfish completed a startle response at lower oxygen concentrations (Leary 2017). This difference could be due to differences between species (gopher and copper vs. blue rockfish); copper rockfish tended to respond more negatively to hypoxia than blue rockfish (Hamilton et al. 2017; Mattiasen et al. 2020), so the lack of an effect for copper rockfish is surprising. Differences could also be due to the duration of exposure to treatment conditions, where Leary (2017) more closely simulated the effect of a fish encountering a patchy hypoxic landscape over a short timescale. Escape responses are fueled with anaerobic metabolism (Domenici & Blake 1997) using fast twitch glycolytic white muscle, and therefore may be unaffected by hypoxia, so long as sensory systems are unimpaired. Unlike the blue rockfish in Leary (2017), juvenile gopher and copper rockfish in this study were given 6-8 days to acclimate to treatment conditions. They were able to lower their Pcrit below 2.0 mg/L and increase oxygen uptake to maintain a steady SMR in the most extreme treatment. Because their exertion levels and oxygen demands were manageable when the stimulus was initiated, they may not have experienced visual or auditory impairment that would impact responsiveness.

## Physiology

Copper and gopher rockfish are closely related congeners that share many life history characteristics. Unsurprisingly, the two species performed similarly across most physiological trials. Fish species that evolved in similarly hypoxic environments tend to converge on similar metabolic response strategies (Mandic & Regan 2018), and both copper and gopher rockfish likely evolved to withstand periodic upwelling and acidified, hypoxic conditions during recruitment. This suggests that information gleaned about one rockfish species can be used to infer responses from closely related species (e.g., kelp, gopher, black and yellow, and copper rockfish, also known as KGB-C complex fishes) with similar evolutionary history (Hyde and Vetter 2007).

For most physiological performance metrics (ventilation rate, critical swimming speed, aerobic scope and MMR), fish exhibited phenotypic plasticity, and were negatively impacted by combined low pH and DO during simulated upwelling, but appeared to recover during simulated relaxation events. This suggests that juvenile rockfish can recover relatively quickly and acclimate back to control environments in less than 6-7 days. The exceptions was hypoxia tolerance in copper rockfish, where the relaxation and fluctuating treatment P<sub>crits</sub> were similar. It is possible that copper rockfish may acclimate more slowly to variable pH and DO than gopher rockfish and require more than 6-7 days.

Overall, performance tended to decrease as pH and DO decreased, although pairwise tests did not always identify the specific treatments driving the significant response. These findings are consistent with physiological assays and genomics from fishes exposed to low pH and low DO separately. For example, global gene expression in black surfperch, *Embiotoca jacksoni*, increased as acidification increased (Toy et al. 2022). Juvenile copper rockfish showed declines in critical swimming speed and aerobic scope, as well as increased expression of transcription factors and regulatory genes with pH (Hamilton et al. 2017) and showed similar trends in physiological metrics under low oxygen (Mattiasen et al. 2020). Although separate cohorts of fish may not be directly comparable, the similar trends across these studies, rather than a more extreme response under combined stressors, suggests that there is no net synergistic effect of hypoxia and OA on rockfish swimming and aerobic scope. However, for blue rockfish,

combined low pH and low oxygen induce a non-additive transcriptomic response, with minimal overlap among genes that respond to single versus combined stressors (Cline et al. 2020).

Juvenile copper and gopher rockfish were able to maintain a steady SMR across treatments, even though the extreme and upwelling treatment had dissolved oxygen concentrations of 2.0 mg/L, which is below the measured P<sub>crit</sub> for control fish. This is consistent with findings from single-stressor studies which also reported no change in SMR in the lowest DO and pH treatments, respectively (Hamilton et al. 2017; Mattiasen et al. 2020). SMR is less sensitive to hypoxia than MMR (Wang et al. 2009), and a reduction in SMR could indicate suppression of some aspects of maintenance metabolism or that basic cellular metabolic needs are supported by anaerobic metabolism. Fish utilize several methods to maintain their MO<sub>2</sub> during hypoxia such as increases in ventilation volume (driven by increased amplitude/frequency), changes in gill morphology, alterations to Hemoglobin-O<sub>2</sub> affinity, increased hematocrit, and changes to cardiac output (Gamperl and Driedzic 2009; Perry et al. 2009; Silkin et al. 2005; Sollid 2003; Wells 2009). Gopher rockfish showed overall higher SMR than copper rockfish, which may be in part to their smaller size, despite correcting for size in metabolic rate calculations (Sims 1996).

Ventilation rate and aerobic scope appeared to be particularly sensitive to low pH and hypoxia. Dramatic increases in ventilation rate occurred in comparison to fish in control conditions, with significant effects being detected in the moderate treatment. As an important mechanism for increasing oxygen supply while coping with reduced dissolved oxygen levels (Perry et al. 2009), ventilation rate increases linearly as dissolved oxygen levels decrease (Mattiasen et al. 2020). Ventilation rates for copper rockfish exposed to combined 7.3 pH and 2.0 mg/L DO more than doubled compared to control fish (118% increase at 13-14°C), which was greater than the percent change observed when exposed to low oxygen only (56% increase between 8.1 pH and 2.2 mg/L DO at 12°C) in a previous study (Mattiasen et al. 2020). The higher percent increase in ventilation rate suggests that coping with combined stressors could be more energetically costly than a single stressor alone, requiring compensation through increased oxygen uptake at the gills. Ventilation can use up to 10-30% of a fish's energy budget (Soofiani & Hawkins 1985), so the increase in ventilation likely comes at an energetic cost that could otherwise support processes like growth, reproduction, and swimming.

Reductions in growth in the fluctuating treatments compared to the control in both species suggests that short-term exposures to low pH and DO have cumulative impacts that may affect long-term organismal fitness, or carry-over to the adult stage. Changes in growth rate can likely be attributed to reductions in feeding in the moderate and extreme static treatments, as well as during the upwelling phase of the fluctuating cycle (M. Palmisciano, *personal observation*). Because digestion processes including the biochemical conversion of food and protein synthesis is energetically costly (Brown & Cameron 1991a, b; Bureau et al. 2003), suppression of appetite and digestion is a common response to reduce metabolic demands under hypoxic conditions, thereby decreasing oxygen requirements in fishes (van Dam and Pauly 1995; Wang et al. 2009). Despite the ability of juvenile rockfish to recover their swimming performance and aerobic scope during the relaxation phase of the simulated upwelling/relaxation cycle, depressions in growth rate have been shown to reduce survivorship in other species (McCormick & Hoey 2004), and may continue to impact rockfish populations even after acidic and hypoxic conditions abate. For example, the predicted intensification of coastal upwelling (Bakun 1990; Sydeman et al. 2014) could cause growth depression that may lengthen the time to maturation.

While laboratory physiological experiments provide a snapshot of an organism's performance at a specific time, they may fail to capture energetic costs that may endure after an organism appears to have fully recovered due to sub-organismal reallocation of energy and/or an ongoing cellular stress response. Findings from RNA sequencing show that there were high numbers of differentially expressed genes between the static control treatment and the relaxation treatment, suggesting that effects of fluctuations linger at the molecular level (Doerr 2021). Therefore, differential gene expression findings from RNA sequencing may provide a better picture of acclimatory and stress responses, as well as the mechanistic basis of such responses. For example, pH variability from upwelling (decreasing and increasing in pH over a period of 8 days) significantly impacted the number of differentially expressed genes in black surfperch (E. *jacksoni*) at mean pH of  $7.7 \pm 0.15$  and  $7.85 \pm 0.15$  (Toy et al. 2022). Similarly, under diel pCO<sub>2</sub> fluctuations, the brain tissue of coral reef fishes Acanthochromis polyacanthus and Amphiprion percula exhibited differentially expressed genes involved in circadian rhythm processes and steroid hormone signaling pathways for both species between the fluctuating and stable treatments (Schunter et al. 2021). This suggests that coral reef fishes may utilize the circadian rhythm regulator in the brain to adapt to dynamic pH conditions (Schunter et al. 2021).

Frontloading, or the higher preparatory expression of genes involved in stress response (Barshis et al. 2013), could result in higher differential expression of genes during relaxation and could play a role in acclimation to repeated stressors under environmental variability.

## **Impacts of fluctuations**

This study supports the importance of incorporating natural variability in climate change stressor experiments. The mean pH/DO for the fluctuating treatments (~7.66 pH/5.30 mg/L) was higher than that of the static moderate treatment (7.5 pH/4.26 mg/L) and yet growth was reduced in the fluctuating treatment when compared to the static moderate treatment. In this upwelling scenario, fluctuations had an overall negative effect compared to constant mean conditions. Given Jensen's inequality, this suggests that the rockfish performance curve across combined pH and DO levels is convex. However, responses to fluctuations are likely species-specific and depend on the duration and amplitude of the fluctuations (Wang et al. 2009). Diel dissolved oxygen oscillations have been shown to have adverse effects on growth compared to constant moderate treatments in juvenile southern flounder (Taylor & Miller 2001), while in juvenile European sea bass, growth, feeding, and body condition in a diel oscillating DO treatment were not different from a constant normoxic or a constant hypoxic treatment (Thetmeyer et al. 1999). Most studies exposing organisms to fluctuating pH or DO have used cycles that vary on a diel scale, replicating the natural day-night changes in ocean chemistry from photosynthesis and respiration (ex. Dufault et al. 2012; Cornwall et al. 2013; Clark & Gobler 2016; Jarrold et al. 2017; Onitsuka et al. 2018; Enochs et al. 2018; Britton et al. 2019). To my knowledge, fewer studies have simulated cycles with periods that last for multiple days (e.g. Toy et al. 2022), which reflect the California Current's upwelling/relaxation dynamics inhabited by rockfish.

Previous studies have also demonstrated that the effects of fluctuations in pH depend on the species of fish examined. Exposure to fluctuating pH on a diel cycle benefitted three coral reef fish species (*Lutjanus fulviflamma*, *Caesio cuning*, and *Abdudefduf whitleyi*) but not a fourth (*Cheilodipterus quinquelineatus*) compared to static conditions (Hannan et al. 2021). Those species exhibited improvements in swimming performance, MMR, and aerobic scope under fluctuating pH (mean pH = 7.70, fluctuating between 7.60 and 7.80) despite having a similar mean value as the static pH treatment (pH = 7.75). In this case, it seems that variability in pH provides a temporal refuge from stress in cases where fluctuations reduce the amount of time spent in constant undesirable conditions. Conversely, one nocturnal species (*Cheilodipterus quinquelineatus*) was adversely affected with decreased MMR and aerobic scope under fluctuating pH. The negative cumulative growth response to fluctuating pH/DO in our study may be explained by many factors, including variability due to differently shaped performance curves (Jensen's inequality), species differences, the interacting effects of OA and hypoxia, the higher amplitude of pH fluctuation (~ $\pm$  0.3), or the longer duration of low pH/DO periods (8 days vs. diel cycle in Hannan et al. 2021).

These mixed findings suggest that the amplitude of fluctuations will likely modulate their effects on organismal fitness. The frequency of fluctuations and duration of periods of stress and recovery will also likely play a role in the overall energetic costs of acclimation. Future studies should vary the mean, maximum, minimum, and frequency of fluctuations and compare them to corresponding static treatments with identical means, with both current-day and future projected pH/DO levels, to better evaluate the costs of acclimation. Furthermore, the predictability of fluctuating cycles may influence organismal responses, with higher predictability allowing for more adaptive responses (Kroeker et al. 2019) and lower predictability, combined with higher magnitude fluctuations, correlating with low phenotypic plasticity (Bitter et al. 2021). While this upwelling simulation used a predictable 16-day cycle, true upwelling is stochastic (Figure 1) so this study may overestimate rockfish's acclimatory ability to natural fluctuations. As larger and more customizable control systems are developed, future experiments could use a multi-factorial design where the amplitude, frequency, and predictability of pH/DO fluctuations are altered. This may illuminate any energetic costs of acclimation and identify thresholds where either the mean or variance of climate stressors impact organismal performance. Additionally, sampling at additional points in the cycle, such as during the transition from upwelling to relaxation or on the first day or two would provide information about how acclimation time influences performance.

This study highlights the plasticity of rockfish physiology in response to ocean chemistry as well as the long-term detrimental effects of chronic severe drops in pH and dissolved oxygen on growth. The physiological characteristics measured here (ventilation rate, U<sub>crit</sub>, aerobic scope, P<sub>crit</sub>) were dependent on the immediate water chemistry. Impairment was high after a week of exposure to simulated upwelling conditions and fish exhibited acclimatory responses within that time frame (e.g., increased ventilation rate and lowered P<sub>crit</sub>), but fish quickly recovered or reacclimated within a week of being returned to control conditions. Growth tended to be greater in the fluctuating treatment than the extreme low, though these pairwise comparisons were not significant, suggesting that temporary reprieves in stressors can have positive long-term effects. My findings demonstrate that acclimatory responses in juvenile rockfish may confer resiliency under extreme projections of future upwelling conditions.

### VI. Conclusion

Juvenile copper and gopher rockfish exhibited significant physiological impairment during the upwelling stage, followed by full or near-full recovery during the relaxation phase of the fluctuating cycle. It is likely that the duration, frequency, and severity of future hypoxic, acidic events will ultimately determine the impacts on survivorship and fitness. Future studies should examine how variation in the timing, intensity, and predictability of upwelling pulses across a range of projected climate change scenarios affect fitness in nearshore organisms. More frequent sampling through physiological experiments or RNA sequencing could provide a clearer picture of the time required for full recovery, sub-organismal impacts, as well as any preconditioning or frontloading effects (Barshis et al. 2013), where exposure to a stressor increases tolerance to that stressor via acclimatization. Pre-conditioning has been observed in corals exposed to periodic temperature spikes and in fishes exposed to hypoxia (Manchenkov et al. 2015), so it is possible that similar mechanisms could improve a fish's tolerance to combined hypoxia and acidification over time. Additionally, little is known about the avoidance responses (Bell & Eggleston 2005) of nearshore juvenile fishes during upwelling, including vertical and horizontal movements and the use of possible refugia created by kelp and seagrass buffering (Hirsh et al. 2020; Falkenberg et al. 2021).

Rockfishes are long-lived, late to mature, and commercially valuable, so their ability to quickly acclimatize to changing ocean conditions will have far-reaching implications for species diversity and fisheries sustainability (Wittmann & Pörtner 2013). Many species of rockfishes are commercially and recreationally harvested in California. This study shows that concomitant exposure to low pH and low DO significantly impacts the fitness of juvenile rockfish through reductions in aerobic capacity and swimming performance. Reduced fitness in the early life stages due to stress from OA and hypoxia may increase susceptibility to predation and affect the population replenishment process, which will impact fisheries and the ecology of nearshore

coastal systems. Understanding the responses of marine organisms to a dynamic ocean environment is becoming progressively more important as climate change intensifies upwelling events along the central and northern California coast (Wang et al. 2015). The ability of organisms to acclimatize and adapt to oceanic variability in pH and dissolved oxygen will have implications for rockfish population health and conservation measures under future environmental forcing.

# VII. Tables and Figures

# Tables

Experiment or Event	Date	Weeks in Treatment	Number of Fluctuating Cycles (16 days)	
YOYs caught on SCUBA	May-June 2017	0	0	
Acclimation in control water	Acclimation in control water May-July 2017		0	
Tagging	July 10-13 and August 3, 2017	0	0	
Control water escapes	July 18-19, 2017	0	0	
Introduction to treatment water	August 8, 2017	0	0	
Tagging (39 gophers)	August 8 – September 23, 2017	0-6	0-3	
Treatment water escapes	August 21-August 25, 2017	1-2	1	
Ventilation	September 4-17, 2017	3-5	2	
U <sub>crit</sub>	September 20-October 1, 2017	6-7	3	
MMR	October 5-14, 2017	8-9	4	
Tagging (20 gophers) for lateralization	October 17, 2017	0	N/A	
P <sub>crit</sub> and SMR October 19-November 5 2017		10-12	5	
Lateralization in control water/time point 1 (gophers only)	October 24 & 26, 2017	0	N/A	

**Table 1.** Summary of experiment schedule from May 2017-July 2018.

Lateralization in treatment water / time point 2 (gophers only)	October 31 & November 2, 2017	1	N/A
Dissections	November 9-12	13	6
Startle response fish collections	June 6-19, 2018	0	N/A
Startle experiment fish			N/A
water	July 3, 2018	0	
Startle experiment in treatment water	July 9-13, 2018	1-2	N/A

**Table 2.** Summary of mean pH, total alkalinity, and  $pCO_2$  from water samples and from daily spot checks taken using the Hach multimeter, averaged by treatment. Values are listed with  $\pm$  standard error. For the fluctuating treatments, means are also shown when the treatment was on (during upwelling phase when pH and DO fell) and off (relaxation phase where pH and DO returned to control values). N represents the number of samples taken during the experiment.

	Di	iscrete water s	samples	Daily Hach multimeter measurements						
Treatment	pH (spec)	ТА	pCO <sub>2</sub>	n	pH (Hach)	Temperature °C	Dissolved Oxygen (mg/L)	n		
		$2236.54\pm$	391.25 ±							
Control	$8.04\pm0.02$	3.25	18.92	8	$8.00\pm0.01$	$13.86 \pm 0.07$	$8.34\pm0.03$	140		
		$2241.15 \pm$	$1405.56 \pm$							
Moderate	$7.55\pm0.05$	1.97	168	5	$7.50\pm0.01$	$13.95\pm0.07$	$4.26\pm0.06$	142		
		$2248.66 \pm$	$2237.76 \pm$							
Extreme	$7.36\pm0.04$	8.48	247.36	7	$7.32\pm0.01$	$13.93\pm0.07$	$2.34\pm0.09$	142		
Relaxation	7.73	2245.75	1187.56	9	$7.64\pm0.03$	$13.9\pm0.08$	$5.19\pm0.27$	142		
		$2252.74 \pm$	$2003.71 \pm$							
(on)	$7.40\pm0.05$	11.05	250.84	5	$7.35\pm0.02$	$13.93\pm0.14$	$2.34\pm0.14$	72		
		$2238.76\pm$								
(off)	$8.06\pm0.03$	0.41	$371.4\pm34.99$	4	$7.96\pm0.02$	$13.85\pm0.07$	$8.24\pm0.13$	66		
Upwelling	7.77	2257.09	1019.06	9	$7.68\pm0.03$	$13.93\pm0.07$	$5.38\pm0.26$	140		
		$2279.13 \pm$	$1657.31 \pm$							
(on)	$7.48\pm0.04$	40.66	166.99	3	$7.3\pm0.00$	$13.94\pm0.10$	$2.06\pm0.02$	64		
		$2235.05 \pm$	$380.81 \pm$							
(off)	$8.05\pm0.02$	1.92	15.56	6	$8.02\pm0.01$	$13.92\pm0.10$	$8.30\pm0.04$	72		

Experiment	Factor	χ <sup>2</sup>	df	p-value
Escape Time (Initial vs.	Treatment	1.54	4	0.82
Final)	Time point	1.98	1	0.16
	Species	0.65	1	0.42
	Treatment x Time point	5.32	4	0.26
	Treatment x Species	2.51	4	0.64
	Time point x Species	0.01	1	0.94
	Treatment x Time point x Species	2.2	4	0.70
Final Escape Time	Treatment	4.76	4	0.31
	Species	0.19	1	0.66
	Treatment x Species	2.85	4	0.58
Relative Lateralization	Treatment	0.85	1	0.36
	Time point	0.51	1	0.47
	Treatment x Time point	0.15	1	0.70
Absolute Lateralization	Treatment	1.52	1	0.22
	Time point	0.01	1	0.94
	Treatment x Time point	1.28	1	0.26
Startle Latency	Treatment	2.96	2	0.23
Startle Velocity	Treatment	1.19	2	0.55
Ventilation	Treatment	151.09	4	<0.0001
	Species	0.04	1	0.84
	Treatment x Species	15.21	4	<0.01
U <sub>crit</sub>	Treatment	27.38	4	<0.0001
	Species	3.42	1	0.06
	Treatment x Species	3.19	4	0.53

**Table 3.** ANOVA results for mixed effects models. Statistically significant p-values (<0.05) are noted in bold text.

SMR	Treatment	8.1	4	0.09
	Species	2.09	1	0.15
	Treatment x Species	9.19	4	0.06
MMR	Treatment	62.42	4	<0.0001
	Species	1.84	1	0.17
	Treatment x Species	1.95	4	0.75
Absolute Aerobic Scope	Treatment	62.38	4	<0.0001
	Species	1.16	1	0.28
	Treatment x Species	2.05	4	0.73
P <sub>crit</sub>	Treatment	25.11	4	<0.0001
	Species	1.01	1	0.32
	Treatment x Species	18.97	4	<0.001
Growth	Treatment	66.19	4	<0.0001
	Species	21.93	1	<0.0001
	Treatment x Species	6.25	4	0.18
Body Condition (Initial vs.	Treatment	11.59	4	0.02
Final)	Species	0.15	1	0.70
	Time point	50.16	1	<0.0001
	Treatment x Species	3.65	4	0.46
	Treatment x Time point	11.09	4	0.03
	Time point x Species	2.18	1	0.14
	Treatment x Time point x Species	4.81	4	0.31
Final Body Condition	Treatment	12.13	4	0.02
	Species	0.06	1	0.81
	Treatment x Species	3.76	4	0.44

**Table 4.** Sample size by treatment and species for each experiment. Additional samples (not shown here) were excluded from analyses in cases where video was blurry or unusable (startle, ventilation) or due to poor data quality (ex. equipment failure, fish failed to swim, etc.).

Treatment	Species	Escape	Lateralization	Startle Latency	Startle Speed	Ventilation Rate	Ucrit	SMR	MMR	Aerobic Scope	Pcrit	Growth	Fulton's K	Mortality
Control	Copper	22	N/A	N/A	N/A	18	10	8	8	8	8	21	21	22
Moderate	Copper	27	N/A	N/A	N/A	27	9	9	8	8	9	28	28	22
Extreme	Copper	24	N/A	N/A	N/A	25	9	10	9	9	12	25	25	28
Relaxation	Copper	26	N/A	N/A	N/A	26	12	8	8	8	8	27	27	26
Upwelling	Copper	22	N/A	N/A	N/A	21	10	7	7	7	8	27	26	26
Control	Gopher	8	9	N/A	N/A	17	8	8	8	8	8	17	17	17
Moderate	Gopher	4	N/A	N/A	N/A	11	8	7	7	7	7	11	11	9
Extreme	Gopher	4	10	N/A	N/A	9	8	6	5	5	6	9	9	11
Relaxation	Gopher	3	N/A	N/A	N/A	13	9	7	7	7	8	12	11	13
Upwelling	Gopher	5	N/A	N/A	N/A	11	8	6	5	5	8	13	13	13
Control	Coppers & Gophers	N/A	N/A	15	16	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Moderate	Coppers & Gophers	N/A	N/A	14	17	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Extreme	Coppers & Gophers	N/A	N/A	14	16	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

# Figures



**Figure 1.** Time series of pH (a, orange), dissolved oxygen (b, blue), and temperature (c, gray) from the SeapHOx sensor moored inside the kelp forest in Stillwater Cove, off the coast of central California, during spring 2017 just prior to fish collections. Data points were collected every 15 minutes. Upwelling events are characterized by simultaneous declines in temperature, pH, and DO. In contrast, relaxation events are characterized by increases in all three environmental parameters.



**Figure 2.** Simplified schematic of treatment conditions. (a) three static treatments were held at a constant pH and DO for the whole experiment. (b) the relaxation treatment on an 8-day cycle. Trials were run on days 6-7 of the relaxation period (indicated by the purple arrows) when treatment conditions were at 8.0 pH / 8.3 mg/L DO. (c) the upwelling treatment fluctuated on an 8-day cycle. Experiments were run on days 6-7 during the upwelling period (indicated by the red arrows) when treatment conditions were at 7.3 pH/2.0 mg/L DO.



**Figure 3.** Images of behavioral and physiological experiments. (a) Escape challenge arena (b) Behavioral lateralization double-T maze (c) Startle response arena with camera recording in the mirror (d) Ventilation tank (e) Loligo systems 1.5 L glass swim flume, which was used to calculate critical swimming speed and maximum respiration rate (MMR). (f) Loligo systems intermittent flow respirometer (photo credit Evan Mattiasen) which was used to determine Standard Metabolic Rate (SMR) and P<sub>crit</sub>.



**Figure 4.** Example of Mauthner-initiated startle response in circular arena. (a) Stimulant (compressed air) is deployed and makes an indent on the water. (b) Stage 1 of C-start, or contralateral bend (c) Stage 2 of C-start, or return flick of the tail.



**Figure 5.** Escape time differences between time points, treatments, and species. Time point 1 (control conditions) is shown as a circle and time point 2 (treatment conditions) is shown as a triangle. Large points represent modeled means and small points show the raw data. Error bars show 95% confidence intervals. Shaded points represent static treatments and open points denote fluctuating treatments. There was no significant difference in escape time among treatments, species, or time points.



**Figure 6.** (a) Relative lateralization and (b) absolute lateralization. Large circles/triangles represent modeled means and small circles/triangles show the raw data. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Circles denote time point 1 when fish were in control water and triangles denote time point 2 when fish were in treatment water. For relative lateralization, a positive value indicates a right turn bias and negative value indicates a left-turn bias. There was no significant difference in relative or absolute lateralization among treatments or time points.



**Figure 7.** (a) Startle response latency and (b) velocity. Results for copper and gopher rockfish are combined in both graphs. Large circles represent modeled means and small circles show data points. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals of the model. There was no significant difference in latency or velocity among treatments.



**Figure 8.** Ventilation Rate for (a) copper and (b) gopher rockfish. Large circles represent modeled means and small circles show data points. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Shaded circles represent static treatments and open circles denote fluctuating treatments. Values not sharing any letters within a plot are significantly different by the Tukeytest at the 5% level of significance.



**Figure 9.** Critical swimming speed for (a) copper and (b) gopher rockfish. Large circles represent modeled means and small circles show data points. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Shaded circles represent static treatments and open circles denote fluctuating treatments. Values not sharing any letters within a plot are significantly different by the Tukey-test at the 5% level of significance.



**Figure 10.** (a, b) Aerobic scope, (c,d) standard metabolic rate, and (e, f) maximum  $MO_2$  for copper and gopher rockfish. Large circles represent modeled means and small circles show data points. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Shaded circles represent static treatments and open circles denote fluctuating treatments. Plots with letters had main effects that were significant. Values not sharing any letters within a plot are significantly different by the Tukey-test at the 5% level of significance.



Figure 11.  $P_{crit}$ , or hypoxia tolerance for (a) copper and (b) gopher rockfish. A lower  $P_{crit}$  indicates a greater hypoxia tolerance. Large circles represent modeled means and small circles show data points. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Shaded circles represent static treatments and open circles denote fluctuating treatments. Values not sharing any letters within a plot are significantly different by the Tukey-test at the 5% level of significance.



**Figure 12.** Specific growth rate (% initial mass, a and b) and final Fulton's K condition metric (measured at the end of the experiment, c and d) for copper and gopher rockfish. Large circles represent modeled means and small circles show data points. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Shaded circles represent static treatments and open circles denote fluctuating treatments. Values not sharing any letters within a plot are significantly different by the Tukey-test at the 5% level of significance. Letters are not shown for Fulton's K for gopher rockfish because the single-species model was not significant overall.



**Figure 13.** Specific growth rates (% day<sup>-1</sup>) of copper and gopher rockfish at time points during the experiment. Circles represent means for each period and error bars represent standard error.



**Figure 14.** Percent mortality by treatment. Data for both copper and gopher rockfish are combined in this graph. Values not sharing any letters within a plot are significantly different by the Tukey-test at the 5% level of significance.

## VIII. Literature Cited

- Allan BJM, Miller GM, McCormick MI, Domenici P, Munday PL. 2014. Parental effects improve escape performance of juvenile reef fish in a high-CO<sub>2</sub> world. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences **281**:1–7.
- Bakun A. 1990. Global climate change and instensification of coastal ocean upwelling. Science **247**:198–201.
- Barshis DJ, Ladner JT, Oliver TA, Seneca FO, Traylor-Knowles N, Palumbi SR. 2013. Genomic basis for coral resilience to climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **110**:1387–1392.
- Baumann H, Talmage SC, Gobler CJ. 2012. Reduced early life growth and survival in a fish in direct response to increased carbon dioxide. Nature Climate Change 2:38–41.
- Bell GW, Eggleston DB. 2005. Species-specific avoidance responses by blue crabs and fish to chronic and episodic hypoxia. Marine Biology **146**:761–770.
- Bisazza A, Dadda M. 2005. Enhanced schooling performance in lateralized fishes. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences **272**:1677–1681.
- Bisazza A, Facchin L, Pignatti R, Vallortigara G. 1998. Lateralization of detour behaviour in poeciliid fish: The effect of species, gender and sexual motivation. Behavioural Brain Research **91**:157–164.
- Bitter MC, Kapsenberg L, Silliman K, Gattuso JP, Pfister CA. 2021. Magnitude and predictability of pH fluctuations shape plastic responses to ocean acidification. The American Naturalist **197**: 486-501.
- Bograd SJ, Castro CG, Di Lorenzo E, Palacios DM, Bailey H, Gilly W, Chavez FP. 2008. Oxygen declines and the shoaling of the hypoxic boundary in the California Current. Geophysical Research Letters **35**:1–6.
- Booth JAT, McPhee-Shaw EE, Chua P, Kingsley E, Denny M, Phillips R, Bograd SJ, Zeidberg LD, Gilly WF. 2012. Natural intrusions of hypoxic, low pH water into nearshore marine environments on the California coast. Continental shelf research **45**:108–115.
- Breitburg D et al. 2018. Declining oxygen in the global ocean and coastal waters. Science **359**: eaam7240.
- Brett JR. 1964. The respiratory metabolism and swimming performance of young sockeye salmon. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada **21**:1184–1226.
- Britton D, Mundy CN, McGraw CM, Revill AT, Hurd CL. 2019. Responses of seaweeds that use CO<sub>2</sub> as their sole inorganic carbon source to ocean acidification: differential effects of fluctuating pH but little benefit of CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment. ICES Journal of Marine Science **76**:1860–1870.
- Brown CR, Cameron JN. 1991a. The Relationship between Specific Dynamic Action (SDA) and Protein Synthesis Rates in the Channel Catfish. Physiological Zoology **64**:298–309.
- Brown CR, Cameron JN. 1991b. The Induction of Specific Dynamic Action in Channel Catfish by Infusion of Essential Amino Acids. Physiological Zoology **64**:276–297.
- Brown JH, Gillooly JF, Allen AP, Savage VM, West GB. 2004. Toward a metabolic theory of ecology. Ecology **85**:1771–1789.
- Bureau, Dominique P., Kaushik SJ, Cho CY. 2003. Bioenergetics. Pages 1–59 in Fish Nutrition (Third Edition). Halver JE, Hardy RW, editors. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Caldeira K, Wickett ME. 2003. Anthropogenic carbon and ocean pH. Nature 425:365.
- Carr MH. 1983. Spatial and Temporal patterns of Recruitment of Young-of-the-Year Rockfishes

(Genus Sebastes) Into a Central California Kelp Forest. San Francisco State University.

- Carr MH. 1991. Habitat selection and recruitment of an assemblage of temperate zone reef fishes. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology **146**:113–137.
- Chabot D. 2020. fishMO2: Calculate and plot the standard metabolic rate (SMR), the critical oxygen level (O2crit) and the specific dynamic action (SDA) and related variables in fishes and crustaceans. Available from https://github.com/denis-chabot/fishMO2.
- Chan F, Barth JA, Lubchenco J, Kirincich A, Weeks H, Peterson WT, Menge BA. 2008. Emergence of Anoxia in the California Current Large Marine Ecosystem. Science **319**:920–920.
- Chapman LJ, Chapman CA, Nordlie FG, Rosenberger AE. 2002. Physiological refugia: Swamps, hypoxia tolerance and maintenance of fish diversity in the Lake Victoria region.
   Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology A Molecular and Integrative Physiology 133:421–437.
- Chivers DP, Mccormick MI, Nilsson GE, Munday PL, Watson SA, Meekan MG, Mitchell MD, Corkill KC, Ferrari MCO. 2014. Impaired learning of predators and lower prey survival under elevated CO<sub>2</sub>: A consequence of neurotransmitter interference. Global Change Biology 20:515–522.
- Clark HR, Gobler CJ. 2016. Diurnal fluctuations in CO<sub>2</sub> and dissolved oxygen concentrations do not provide a refuge from hypoxia and acidification for early-life-stage bivalves. Marine Ecology Progress Series **558**:1–14.
- Clark TD, Raby GD, Roche DG, Binning SA, Speers-Roesch B, Jutfelt F, Sundin J. 2020. Ocean acidification does not impair the behaviour of coral reef fishes. Nature **577**:370–375.
- Cline, A. J., Hamilton, S. L., & Logan, C. A. 2020. Effects of multiple climate change stressors on gene expression in blue rockfish (*Sebastes mystinus*). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 239:110580.
- Cornwall CE, Hepburn CD, Mcgraw CM, Currie KI, Pilditch CA, Hunter KA, Boyd PW, Hurd CL. 2013. Diurnal fluctuations in seawater pH influence the response of a calcifying macroalga to ocean acidification. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences **280**:20132201.
- Crain CM, Kroeker K, Halpern BS. 2008. Interactive and cumulative effects of multiple human stressors in marine systems. Ecology Letters **11**:1304–1315.
- Dadda M, Bisazza A. 2006. Does brain asymmetry allow efficient performance of simultaneous tasks? Animal Behaviour **72**:523–529.
- Dadda M, Koolhaas WH, Domenici P. 2010. Behavioural asymmetry affects escape performance in a teleost fish. Biology Letters **6**:414–417.
- Dalla Via J, Van den Thillart G, Cattani O, Cortesi P. 1998. Behavioural responses and biochemical correlates in *Solea solea* to gradual hypoxic exposure. Canadian Journal of Zoology **76**:2108–2113.
- Davis BE et al. 2018. Juvenile rockfish show resilience to CO<sub>2</sub> acidification and hypoxia across multiple biological scales. Conservation Physiology **6**:1–19.
- Denny M. 2017. The fallacy of the average: On the ubiquity, utility and continuing novelty of Jensen's inequality. The Journal of Experimental Biology **220**:139–146.
- DePasquale E, Baumann H, Gobler CJ. 2015. Vulnerability of early life stage Northwest Atlantic forage fish to ocean acidification and low oxygen. Marine Ecology Progress Series 523:145–156.
- Deutsch C, Ferrel A, Seibel B, Hans-Otto P, Huey RB. 2015. Climate change tightens a

metabolic constraint on marine habitats. Science 348:1132-1136.

- Doerr H. 2021. Species-Specific Transcriptomic Responses of Juvenile Rockfish (*Sebastes*) to Simulated Future Upwelling Conditions. Master of Science in Marine Science. Moss Landing Marine Laboratories. Available from https://digitalcommons.csumb.edu/ cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2146&context=caps\_thes\_all.
- Doherty PJ, Dufour V, Galzin R, Hixon MA, Meekan MG, Planes S. 2004. High mortality during settlement is a population bottleneck for a tropical surgeonfish. Ecology **85**:2422–2428.
- Domenici P, Allan B, McCormick MI, Munday PL. 2012. Elevated carbon dioxide affects behavioural lateralization in a coral reef fish. Biology Letters **8**:78–81.
- Domenici P, Allan BJM, Watson S-A, McCormick MI, Munday PL. 2014. Shifting from Right to Left: The Combined Effect of Elevated CO<sub>2</sub> and Temperature on Behavioural Lateralization in a Coral Reef Fish. PLoS One **9**:e87969.
- Domenici P, Blake RW. 1997. The kinematics and performance of fish fast-start swimming. The Journal of Experimental Biology **200**:1165–1178.
- Domenici P, Lefrancois C, Shingles A. 2007. Hypoxia and the antipredator behaviours of fishes. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences **362**:2105–2121.
- Domenici P, Steffensen JF, Batty RS. 2000. The effect of progressive hypoxia on swimming activity and schooling in Atlantic herring. Journal of Fish Biology **57**:1526–1538.
- Donham EM, Strope LT, Hamilton SL, Kroeker KJ. 2022. Coupled changes in pH, temperature, and dissolved oxygen impact the physiology and ecology of herbivorous kelp forest grazers. Global Change Biology **28**:3023-3039.
- Duarte CM, Hendriks IE, Moore TS, Olsen YS, Steckbauer A, Ramajo L, Carstensen J, Trotter JA, McCulloch M. 2013. Is Ocean Acidification an Open-Ocean Syndrome? Understanding Anthropogenic Impacts on Seawater pH. Estuaries and Coasts **36**:221– 236.
- Dufault AM, Cumbo VR, Fan T-Y, Edmunds PJ. 2012. Effects of diurnally oscillating  $pCO_2$  on the calcification and survival of coral recruits. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences **279**:2951–2958.
- Eaton RC, Lee RK, Foreman MB. 2001. The Mauthner cell and other identified neurons of the brainstem escape network of fish. Progress in Neurobiology **63**:467–485.
- Elliott ML, Bradley RW, Robinette DP, Jahncke J. 2015. Changes in forage fish community indicated by the diet of the Brandt's cormorant (*Phalacrocorax penicillatus*) in the central California Current. Journal of Marine Systems **146**:50–58.
- Enochs IC, Manzello DP, Jones PJ, Aguilar C, Cohen K, Valentino L, Schopmeyer S, Kolodziej G, Jankulak M, Lirman D. 2018. The influence of diel carbonate chemistry fluctuations on the calcification rate of Acropora cervicornis under present day and future acidification conditions. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 506:135–143.
- Falkenberg LJ, Scanes E, Ducker J, Ross PM. 2021. Biotic habitats as refugia under ocean acidification. Conservation Physiology **9**:coab077.
- Feely RA, Fabry VJ, Guinotte JM. 2008. Ocean acidification of the North Pacific Ocean. Pices **22**:26.
- Fox J, Weisberg S. 2019. An R Companion to Applied Regression. Thousand Oaks CA: Sage. Available from https://socialsciences.mcmaster.ca/jfox/Books/Companion/.
- Frieder CA, Nam SH, Martz TR, Levin LA. 2012. High temporal and spatial variability of

dissolved oxygen and pH in a nearshore California kelp forest. Biogeosciences **9**:3917–3930.

- Fry FEJ. 1971. The effect of environmental factors on the physiology of fish. Pages 1–98 in Fish Physiology. Hoar WS, Randall DJ, editors. Academic Press, Inc.
- Gamperl AK, Driedzic WR. 2009. Cardiovascular Function and Cardiac Metabolism. Pages 302-360 in Hypoxia: Fish Physiology Volume 27, 1st edition. Farrell AP, Brauner CJ, editors. Academic Press, Boston.
- García-Reyes M, Largier J. 2010. Observations of increased wind-driven coastal upwelling off Central California. Journal of Geophysical Research, C: Oceans **115**:1–8.
- Grantham BA, Chan F, Nielsen KJ, Fox DS, Barth JA, Huyer A, Lubchenco J, Menge BA. 2004. Upwelling-driven nearshore hypoxia signals ecosystem and oceanographic changes in the northeast Pacific. Nature **429**:749–754.
- Gruber N, Hauri C, Lachkar Z, Loher D, Frolicher TL, Plattner G-K. 2012. Rapid Progression of Ocean Acidification in the California Current System. Science **337**:220–223.
- Gunderson AR, Armstrong EJ, Stillman JH. 2016. Multiple Stressors in a Changing World: The Need for an Improved Perspective on Physiological Responses to the Dynamic Marine Environment. Annual Review of Marine Science **8**:357–378.
- Hallacher LE, Roberts DA. 1985. Differential utilization of space and food by the inshore rockfishes (Scorpaenidae: *Sebastes*) of Carmel Bay, California. Environmental Biology of Fishes **12**:91–110.
- Hamilton SL, Logan CA, Fennie HW, Sogard SM, Barry JP, Makukhov AD, Tobosa LR, Boyer K, Lovera CF, Bernardi G. 2017. Species-specific responses of juvenile rockfish to elevated pCO<sub>2</sub>: From behavior to genomics. PloS One **12**:1–23.
- Hamilton TJ, Holcombe A, Tresguerres M. 2014. CO<sub>2</sub> -induced ocean acidification increases anxiety in Rockfish via alteration of GABA A receptor functioning. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences **281**:20132509.
- Hannan KD, McMahon SJ, Munday PL, Rummer JL. 2021. Contrasting effects of constant and fluctuating *p*CO<sub>2</sub> conditions on the exercise physiology of coral reef fishes. Marine Environmental Research **163**:105224.
- Harti F. 2022. DHARMa: Residual Diagnostics for Hierarchical (Multi-Level / Mixed) Regression Models. Available from https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=DHARMa.
- Helm KP, Bindoff NL, Church JA. 2011. Observed decreases in oxygen content of the global ocean. Geophysical Research Letters **38**:1–6.
- Heuer RM, Grosell M. 2014. Physiological impacts of elevated carbon dioxide and ocean acidification on fish. AJP: Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology **307**:R1061–R1084.
- Hirsh HK, Nickols KJ, Takeshita Y, Traiger SB, Mucciarone DA, Monismith S, Dunbar RB. 2020. Drivers of Biogeochemical Variability in a Central California Kelp Forest: Implications for Local Amelioration of Ocean Acidification. Journal of Geophysical Research, C: Oceans 125:1–22.
- Hofmann GE et al. 2011. High-Frequency Dynamics of Ocean pH: A Multi-Ecosystem Comparison. PloS One 6:1–11.
- Howard EM, Penn JL, Frenzel H, Seibel BA, Bianchi D, Renault L, Kessouri F, Sutula MA, McWilliams JC, Deutsch C. 2020. Climate-driven aerobic habitat loss in the California Current System. Science Advances **6**:eaay3188.
- Hyde JR, Vetter RD. 2007. The origin, evolution, and diversification of rockfishes of the genus

Sebastes (Cuvier). Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 44:90-811.

- IPCC. 2014. Climate change 2014: synthesis report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (Core Writing Team, Pachauri RK, Meyer LA, editors). IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Jarrold MD, Humphrey C, McCormick MI, Munday PL. 2017. Diel CO<sub>2</sub> cycles reduce severity of behavioural abnormalities in coral reef fish under ocean acidification. Scientific Reports 7:1–9. Springer US.
- Jarrold MD, Munday PL. 2019. Diel CO<sub>2</sub> cycles and parental effects have similar benefits to growth of a coral reef fish under ocean acidification. Biology Letters **15**:20180724.
- Jensen JLWV. 1906. Sur les fonctions convexes et les inégalités entre les valeurs moyennes. Acta Mathematica **30**:175–193. Springer.
- Jutfelt F, Bresolin de Souza K, Vuylsteke A, Sturve J. 2013. Behavioural Disturbances in a Temperate Fish Exposed to Sustained High-CO<sub>2</sub> Levels. PloS One **8**:6–11.
- Kashef NS, Sogard SM, Fisher R, Largier JL. 2014. Ontogeny of critical swimming speeds for larval and pelagic juvenile rockfishes (*Sebastes* spp., family Scorpaenidae). Marine Ecology Progress Series **500**:231–243.
- Keeling RF, Körtzinger A, Gruber N. 2010. Ocean Deoxygenation in a Warming World. Annual Review of Marine Science **2**:199–229.
- Kroeker KJ, Bell LE, Donham EM, Hoshijima U, Lummis S, Toy JA, Willis-Norton E. 2019. Ecological change in dynamic environments: Accounting for temporal environmental variability in studies of ocean change biology. Global Change Biology **26**:54-67.
- Kwan GT, Hamilton TJ, Tresguerres M. 2017. CO<sub>2</sub>-induced ocean acidification does not affect individual or group behaviour in a temperate damselfish. Royal Society Open Science **4**:170283.
- Landry CA, Steele SL, Manning S, Cheek AO. 2007. Long term hypoxia suppresses reproductive capacity in the estuarine fish, *Fundulus grandis*. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - A Molecular and Integrative Physiology **148**:317–323.
- Leary PR. 2017, June. Observations, causes, and potential consequences of small-scale temperature and dissolved oxygen variability in a kelp forest system. Doctor of Philosophy. Stanford University.
- Lefevre S. 2016. Are global warming and ocean acidification conspiring against marine ectotherms? A meta-analysis of the respiratory effects of elevated temperature, high CO<sub>2</sub> and their interaction. Conservation Physiology **4**:1–31.
- Lefrançois C, Shingles A, Domenici P. 2005. The effect of hypoxia on locomotor performance and behaviour during escape in *Liza aurata*. Journal of Fish Biology **67**:1711–1729.
- Lenarz WH, Larson RJ, Ralston S. 1991. Depth Distributions of Late Larvae and Pelagic Juveniles of Some Fishes of the California Current. CALCOFI Rep **32**:41–46.
- Lenth R. 2022. emmeans: Estimated Marginal Means, aka Least-Squares Means. Available from https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=emmeans.
- Lewis ER, Wallace DWR. 1998. Program Developed for CO<sub>2</sub> System Calculations. United States: N. p. Available from http://dx.doi.org/10.15485/1464255.
- Lomholt JP, Johansen K. 1979. Hypoxia Acclimation in Carp-How It Affects O<sub>2</sub> Uptake, Ventilation, and O<sub>2</sub> Extraction From Water. Physiological Zoology **52**:38–49.
- Love MS, Yoklavich M, Thorsteinson LK. 2002. The Rockfishes of the Northeast Pacific. University of California Press.
- Manchenkov T, Pasillas MP, Haddad GG, Imam FB. 2015. Novel Genes Critical for Hypoxic

Preconditioning in Zebrafish Are Regulators of Insulin and Glucose Metabolism. G3: Genes|Genomes|Genetics **5**:1107–1116.

- Mandic M, Regan MD. 2018. Can variation among hypoxic environments explain why different fish species use different hypoxic survival strategies? The Journal of Experimental Biology **221**:jeb161349.
- Mangan S, Urbina MA, Findlay HS, Wilson RW, Lewis C. 2017. Fluctuating seawater pH/pCO<sub>2</sub> regimes are more energetically expensive than static pH/pCO<sub>2</sub> levels in the mussel *Mytilus edulis*. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences **284**:20171642.
- Mattiasen EG, Kashef NS, Stafford DM, Logan CA, Sogard SM, Bjorkstedt EP, Hamilton SL. 2020. Effects of hypoxia on the behavior and physiology of kelp forest fishes. Global Change Biology 26: 3498-3511.
- McCormick MI, Fakan E, Allan BJM. 2018. Behavioural measures determine survivorship within the hierarchy of whole-organism phenotypic traits. Functional Ecology **32**:958–969.
- McCormick MI, Hoey AS. 2004. Larval growth history determines juvenile growth and survival in a tropical marine fish. Oikos **106**:225–242.
- McNeil BI, Sasse TP. 2016. Future ocean hypercapnia driven by anthropogenic amplification of the natural CO<sub>2</sub> cycle. Nature **529**:383–386.
- Metcalfe JD, Butler PJ. 1984. Changes in activity and ventilation in response to hypoxia in unrestrained, unoperated dogfish (*Scyliorhinus canicula* L.). The Journal of Experimental Biology **108**:411-418.
- Meyer-Gutbrod E, Kui L, Miller R, Nishimoto M, Snook L, Love M. 2021. Moving on up: Vertical distribution shifts in rocky reef fish species during climate-driven decline in dissolved oxygen from 1995 to 2009. Global Change Biology **27**:6280–6293.
- Mills KL, Laidig T, Ralston S, Sydeman WJ. 2007. Diets of top predators indicate pelagic juvenile rockfish (*Sebastes* spp.) abundance in the California Current System. Fisheries Oceanography **16**:273–283.
- Mitrovic D, Dymowska A, Nilsson GE, Perry SF. 2009. Physiological consequences of gill remodeling in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) during exposure to long-term hypoxia. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 297:R224-34.
- Montgomery DW, Simpson SD, Engelhard GH, Birchenough SNR, Wilson RW. 2019. Rising CO<sub>2</sub> enhances hypoxia tolerance in a marine fish. Scientific Reports **9**:15152.
- Munday PL, Crawley NE, Nilsson GE. 2009. Interacting effects of elevated temperature and ocean acidification on the aerobic performance of coral reef fishes. Marine Ecology Progress Series **388**:235–242.
- Munday PL, Dixson DL, McCormick MI, Meekan M, Ferrari MCO, Chivers DP. 2010. Replenishment of fish populations is threatened by ocean acidification. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **107**:12930–12934.
- Murie DJ. 1995. Comparative feeding ecology of two sympatric rockfish congeners, *Sebastes caurinus* (copper rockfish) and *S. maliger* (quillback rockfish). Marine Biology **124**:341–353.
- Nagelkerken I, Alemany T, Anquetin JM, Ferreira CM, Ludwig KE, Sasaki M, Connell SD. 2021. Ocean acidification boosts reproduction in fish via indirect effects. PLoS Biology **19**:e3001033.
- Nilsson GE, Dixson DL, Domenici P, McCormick MI, Sørensen C, Watson S-A, Munday PL.

2012. Near-future carbon dioxide levels alter fish behaviour by interfering with neurotransmitter function. Nature Climate Change **2**:201–204.

- Onitsuka T, Takami H, Muraoka D, Matsumoto Y, Nakatsubo A, Kimura R, Ono T, Nojiri Y. 2018. Effects of ocean acidification with *p*CO<sub>2</sub> diurnal fluctuations on survival and larval shell formation of Ezo abalone, *Haliotis discus hannai*. Marine Environmental Research **134**:28–36.
- Orr JC, Fabry VJ, Aumont O, Bopp L, Doney SC, Feely RA, Gnanadesikan A, Gruber N, Ishida A, Joos F, and Key RM. 2005. Anthropogenic Decline in High-Latitude Ocean Carbonate by 2100. Nature **437**:681–686.
- Ou M, Hamilton TJ, Eom J, Lyall EM, Gallup J, Jiang A, Lee J, Close DA, Yun S-S, Brauner CJ. 2015. Responses of pink salmon to CO<sub>2</sub>-induced aquatic acidification. Nature Climate Change **5**:950–955.
- Parker SJ, Berkeley SA, Golden JT, Gunderson DR, Heifetz J, Hixon MA, Larson E, Leaman BM, Love MS, Musick JA. 2000. Management of Pacific Rockfish. Fisheries **25**:22–29.
- Perry SF, Jonz MG, Gilmour KM. 2009. Oxygen sensing and the hypoxic ventilatory response. Pages 193–253 Fish Physiology Volume 27: Hypoxia. Academic Press, London.
- Petersen JK, Petersen GI. 1990. Tolerance, behaviour and oxygen consumption in the sand goby, *Pomatoschistus minutus* (Pallas), exposed to hypoxia. Journal of Fish Biology **37**:921–933.
- Pichavant K, Person-Le-Ruyet J, Le Bayon N, Sévère A, Le Roux A, Quéméner L, Maxime V, Nonnotte G, Boeuf G. 2000. Effects of hypoxia on growth and metabolism in juvenile turbot. Aquaculture 188:103–114.
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, R Core Team. 2022. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. Available from https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=nlme.
- Pörtner HO, Grieshaber MK. 1993. Critical pO<sub>2</sub>(s) in oxyconforming and oxyregulating animals:
  Gas exchange, metabolic rate and the mode of energy production. Pages 330-357 in
  Vertebrate Gas Transport Cascade: Adaptations to Environment and Mode of Life.
  Eduardo J, Bicudo PW, editors. CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- Prince ED, Phillip Goodyear C. 2007. Consequences of Ocean Scale Hypoxia Constrained Habitat for Tropical Pelagic Fishes. Gulf and Caribbean Research **19**:17-20.
- R Core Team. 2022. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available from https://www.R-project.org/.
- Rabalais NN, Turner RE, Wiseman WJ. 2002. Gulf of Mexico Hypoxia, A.K.A. "The Dead Zone." Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics **33**:235–263.
- Randall D. 1982. The control of respiration and circulation in fish during exercise and hypoxia. The Journal of Experimental Biology **100**:275–288.
- Richards JG. 2009. Metabolic and molecular responses of fish to hypoxia. Pages 443–485 in Hypoxia: Fish Physiology Volume 27, 1st edition. Farrell AP, Brauner CJ, editors. Academic Press, Boston.
- Roche DG et al. 2020. Behavioural lateralization in a detour test is not repeatable in fishes. Animal Behaviour **167**:55–64.
- Rogers NJ, Urbina MA, Reardon EE, McKenzie DJ, Wilson RW. 2016. A new analysis of hypoxia tolerance in fishes using a database of critical oxygen level (P<sub>crit</sub>). Conservation Physiology **4**:1–19.
- Sabine CL, Feely RA. 2007. The oceanic sink for carbon dioxide. Pages 31–49 in Greenhouse Gas Sinks. Reay D, Hewitt N, Grace J, Smith K, editors. CABI Publishing, Oxfordshire.

- Schunter C, Jarrold MD, Munday PL, Ravasi T. 2021. Diel pCO<sub>2</sub> fluctuations alter the molecular response of coral reef fishes to ocean acidification conditions. Molecular Ecology 30:5105–5118.
- Shang EHH, Wu RSS. 2004. Aquatic hypoxia is a teratogen and affects fish embryonic development. Environmental Science and Technology **38**:4763–4767.
- Shimps EL, Rice JA, Osborne JA. 2005. Hypoxia tolerance in two juvenile estuary-dependent fishes. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology **325**:146–162.
- Silkin YA, Silkina EN. Effect of hypoxia on physiological-biochemical blood parameters in some marine fish. Journal of Evolutionary Biochemistry and Physiology **41**: 527-532.
- Sims DW. 1996. The effect of body size on the standard metabolic rate of the lesser spotted dogfish. Journal of Fish Biology **48**:542–544.
- Small DP, Milazzo M, Bertolini C, Graham H, Hauton C, Hall-Spencer JM, Rastrick SPS. 2016. Temporal fluctuations in seawater pCO<sub>2</sub> may be as important as mean differences when determining physiological sensitivity in natural systems. ICES Journal of Marine Science 73:604–612.
- Sogard SM. 1997. Size-Selective Mortality in the Juvenile Stage of Teleost Fishes : a Review. Bulletin of Marine Science **60**:1129–1157.
- Sollid J. 2003. Hypoxia induces adaptive and reversible gross morphological changes in crucian carp gills. The Journal of Experimental Biology **206**:3667–3673.
- Soofiani NM, Hawkins AD. 1985. Field Studies of Energy Budgets. Pages 283–307 in Tytler P, Calow P, editors. Fish Energetics: New Perspectives. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.
- Sovrano VA, Dadda M, Bisazza A. 2005. Lateralized fish perform better than nonlateralized fish in spatial reorientation tasks. Behavioural Brain Research **163**:122–127.
- Sydeman WJ, García-Reyes M, Schoeman DS, Rykaczewski RR, Thompson SA, Black BA, Bograd SJ. 2014. Climate change and wind intensification in coastal upwelling ecosystems. Science 345:77–80.
- Taylor JC, Miller JM. 2001. Physiological performance of juvenile southern flounder, *Paralichthys lethostigma* (Jordan and Gilbert, 1884), in chronic and episodic hypoxia. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology **258**:195–214.
- Thetmeyer H, Waller U, Black KD, Inselmann S, Rosenthal H. 1999. Growth of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax* L.) under hypoxic and oscillating oxygen conditions. Aquaculture **174**:355–367.
- Toy JA, Kroeker KJ, Logan CA, Takeshita Y, Longo GC, Bernardi G. 2022. Upwelling-level acidification and pH/pCO<sub>2</sub> variability moderate effects of ocean acidification on brain gene expression in the temperate surfperch, *Embiotoca jacksoni*. Molecular Ecology **31**:4707–4725.
- Vallortigara G, Rogers LJ. 2005. Survival with an asymmetrical brain: Advantages and disadvantages of cerebral lateralization. Behavioral and Brain Sciences **28**:575-589.
- van Dam AA, Pauly D. 1995. Simulation of the effects of oxygen on food consumption and growth of Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus* (L.). Aquaculture Research **26**:427-440.
- Vaquer-Sunyer R, Duarte CM. 2008. Thresholds of hypoxia for marine biodiversity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **105**:15452–15457.
- Waldbusser GG, Salisbury JE. 2013. Ocean Acidification in the Coastal Zone from an Organism's Perspective: Multiple System Parameters, Frequency Domains, and Habitats. Annual Review of Marine Science **6**:221–247.
- Wang D, Gouhier TC, Menge BA, Ganguly AR. 2015. Intensification and spatial

homogenization of coastal upwelling under climate change. Nature **518**:390–394.

- Wang T, Lefevre S, Thanh Huong DT, van Cong N, Bayley M. 2009. Chapter 8 The Effects of Hypoxia On Growth and Digestion. Pages 361–396 in Fish Physiology. Richards JG, Farrell AP, Brauner CJ, editors. Academic Press.
- Weihs D. 1973. The mechanism of rapid starting of slender fish. Biorheology 10:343–350.
- Wells RMG. 2009. Blood-Gas Transport and Hemoglobin Function: Adaptations for Functional and Environmental Hypoxia. Pages 256–299 in Hypoxia: Fish Physiology Volume 27, 1st edition. Farrell AP, Brauner CJ, editors. Academic Press, Boston.
- Wittmann AC, Pörtner H-O. 2013. Sensitivities of extant animal taxa to ocean acidification. Nature Climate Change **3**:995–1001.
- Wu RSS. 2009. Chapter 3 Effects of Hypoxia on Fish Reproduction and Development. Pages 79–141 in Fish Physiology. Richards JG, Farrell AP, Brauner CJ, editors. Academic Press.